# Marshall University Marshall Digital Scholar

Theses, Dissertations and Capstones

1-1-2011

# Identification of Genes Involved in Hematopoietic Stem Cell Differentiation and Leukemia Differentiation and Leukemia

Jasjeet Bhullar bhullar@marshall.edu

Follow this and additional works at: http://mds.marshall.edu/etd Part of the <u>Hematology Commons</u>, and the <u>Medical Cell Biology Commons</u>

#### **Recommended** Citation

Bhullar, Jasjeet, "Identification of Genes Involved in Hematopoietic Stem Cell Differentiation and Leukemia Differentiation and Leukemia" (2011). *Theses, Dissertations and Capstones*. Paper 23.

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Marshall Digital Scholar. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses, Dissertations and Capstones by an authorized administrator of Marshall Digital Scholar. For more information, please contact zhangj@marshall.edu.



# Identification of genes involved in hematopoietic stem cell differentiation and leukemia

Dissertation submitted to the Graduate College of Marshall University in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> by Jasjeet Bhullar

Approved by:

Dr. Vincent E Sollars, Ph.D., Committee Chairperson Dr. Richard Niles, Ph.D. Dr. Todd Green, Ph.D. Dr. Beverly Delidow, Ph.D. Dr. Susan Jackman, Ph.D.

Department of Biochemistry and Microbiology, Marshall University Joan C. Edwards School of Medicine Huntington, West Virginia

April 2011



## ABSTRACT

Hematopoiesis is maintained by a proper balance between self renewal and multipotent differentiation of the hematopoietic stem cells (HSC). Acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) is characterized by the blockage in the differentiation of HSC, while self renewal and proliferation is preserved. It is important to understand the mechanisms involved in the inhibition of hematopoietic differentiation and maintenance of the HSC state in order to develop better therapies for AML. In these studies I have explored the role of Hsp90, omega-3 fatty acids and YB-1 in hematopoietic differentiation. EML, a hematopoietic precursor cell line, was used as a model for the hematopoietic system in these studies. My preliminary data showed the activation of Wnt signaling upon inhibition of Hsp90 in EML cells. This data suggested the involvement of Hsp90 in the regulation of Wnt signaling in EML cells. Moreover, my initial data with fatty acid studies indicated that omega-3 fatty acids could affect Wnt signaling in EML cells. Unfortunately, further progression of both these studies was marred by variability in my data. In my latest study, I have identified YB-1 as a marker involved in the maintenance of the hematopoietic stem cell state. YB-1 was found to be highly expressed in the EML cell line and in the mouse bone marrow-derived HSC and myeloid progenitor cells. In addition, YB-1 expression was downregulated during myeloid differentiation in retinoic acid (RA) and granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) treated EML cells, as well as in the granulocytes derived from mouse bone marrow. Further, abnormal YB-1 expression was observed in myeloid leukemic cell lines. Knockdown of YB-1 expression and arsenic trioxide treatment (As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>) in erythroleukemic, K562 cell line resulted in apoptosis and inhibition of cell proliferation. Most importantly, these treatments led to the induction of megakaryocytic differentiation in these cells. Overall my data suggests that increased expression of YB-1 in the leukemic cells contributes to the leukemic cell properties by promoting cell proliferation, cell survival and blocking cell differentiation. Thus, YB-1 could be a potential target for therapy in myeloid leukemia.



### **DEDICATION**

I would like to dedicate this work to my parents, Satpal and Jasmeet Bhullar. Without their knowledge, wisdom, and guidance, I would not have the goals I have; to strive and be the best to reach my dreams.



## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my family for being there for me when I needed them the most. It is due to their encouragement, support and love I was able to come so far to pursue my dream. I would like to sincerely thank my brother, Simarjeet Bhullar who was responsible for giving a direction to my life. I have always admired his courage and determination and followed in his footsteps. I love my parents and I sincerely appreciate their patience and support.

I can not thank enough my husband, Dr. Sandeep Joshi, with whose support I was able to achieve my goal of graduate education. He motivated, encouraged and guided me through this. He took care of our son while I was working on my dissertation. I would like to thank almighty god for giving me his blessings and a wonderful son Prateik. I would also like to thank my mother- and father-in-law who took care of things at home while I was writing.

I would like to thank all my labmates for some of the quality time we spent during the course of this journey particularly Dr. Jennifer Napper, Dr. Mindy Varney, Harsh Pratap, Ayah Arafa, James Buchanan and Jonathan Lewis.

I would thank the BMS program for giving me this opportunity to fulfill my goal of graduate education. Also, I'd like to thank all my BMS friends who made me cherish my graduate school experience. I am going to miss all of you.

I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Sollars for guiding me through this work. His patience and support is appreciated. I would thank my committee: Dr. Susan Jackman, Dr. Beverely Delidow, Dr. Richard Niles and Dr. Green who helped me become a better scientist. It's through their guidance I strived hard to learn more.



# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

TITLE PAGE i
ABSTRACTii
DEDICATION PAGEiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv
TABLE OF CONTENTSv
LIST OF FIGURES vii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSx
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION1
Hematopoiesis1
Acute Myelogenous Leukemia4
Stress response
Hsp90 isoforms and structure8
Role of Hsp90 in cancer12
Hsp90 inhibitors13
Y Box Protein (YB-1)15
YB-1 expression, structure and function16
Biological role of YB-119
Role of YB-1 in cancer20
Role of YB-1 in hematological malignancies22
Wnt signalling24
Wnt signalling and hematopoietic stem cells26
Omega fatty acids and cancer28
CHAPTER TWO: YB-1 expression and function in early hematopoiesis and leukemia32
ABSTRACT
INTRODUCTION
MATERIALS AND METHODS
RESULTS



DISCUSSION
CHAPTER THREE: Activation of the canonical Wnt signaling in hematopoietic precursor, EML cell line upon Hsp90 inhibition60
ABSTRACT60
INTRODUCTION61
MATERIALS AND METHODS63
RESULTS
DISCUSSION72
CHAPTER FOUR: Effect of omega-3 and 6 fatty acids on the hematopoietic precursor, EML cell line
ABSTRACT
INTRODUCTION
MATERIALS AND METHODS79
RESULTS
DISCUSSION
CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS
REFERENCES104



### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	A general model of hematopoiesis	2
Figure 1.2	Structure of Hsp90 and its various isoforms	9
Figure 1.3	The Hsp90 superchaperone complex cycle	11
Figure 1.4	The structure and function of YB-1	16
Figure 1.5	Model of YB-1 function	19
Figure 1.6	Schematic of the signal transduction pathways of YB-1 in cancer cells	21
Figure 1.7	The canonical Wnt signaling pathway	25
Figure 1.8	Omega-3 and Omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA)	29
Figure 2.1	Morphology of EML cells during RA and GM-CSF induced differentiation	42
Figure 2.2	Cell surface marker profile of untreated, RA and GM-CSF treated EML cells	44
Figure 2.3	Expression of YB-1 mRNA and protein in EML cells	46
Figure 2.4	Expression of YB-1 in mouse stem and progenitor cells	48
Figure 2.5	YB-1 expression in leukemia	49
Figure 2.6	Effects of down-regulation of YB-1 expression on cell proliferation and apoptosis in K562 leukemic cells	51
Figure 2.7	Effects of down-regulation of YB-1 on cell differentiation in K562 leukemic cells	53
Figure 3.1	EML cells have high total β-catenin levels	66
Figure 3.2	Hsp90 inhibition leads to reduction in total <b>ß-catenin levels in</b> EML cells	68
Figure 3.3	Ativation of the canonical Wnt pathway after inhibition of Hsp90 in EML cells	69
Figure 3.4	Wnt pathway activation in GA treated EML cells after differentiation	70



Figure 3.5	Wnt pathway activation through inhibition of Hsp90 in EML cells was not consistent	71
Figure 4.1	Omega-3 fatty acids downregulate Wnt signaling in EML and HL- 60 cells	82
Figure 4.2	Down-regulation of Wnt signaling by omega-3 fatty acids in EML, HL-60 and U-937 cells was inconsistent	84
Figure 4.3	Attempts to achieve consistent reduction in the Wnt signaling pathway upon omega-3 fatty acid treatment were unsuccessful	87
Figure 5.1	Model for the expression and function of YB-1 in normal and leukemic cells	103



## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1	Examples of transcription factor mutations in patients with AML	5
Table 1.2	Y box proteins in humans and mouse	15



# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AA	Arachidonic acid
17-AAG	17-N-Allylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin
ABC	ATP-binding cassette
ADP	Adenine diphosphate
AML	Acute myelogenous leukemia
ALA	α-linolenic acid
ALL	Acute lymphoblastic leukemia
APL	Acute promyelocytic leukemia
ATP	Adenine triphosphate
ATRA	All-trans retinoic acid
AS2O3	Arsenic trioxide
BCR	Breakpoint cluster region
CFU	Colony forming unit
CLP	Common lymphoid progenitor
CML	Chronic myelogenous leukemia
СМР	Common myeloid progenitor
CSD	Cold Shock Domain
COX	Cyclooxygenase
DHA	Docosahexanoic acid
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxide
EMP	Erythroid megakaryoctye progenitor
EML	Erythrocyte myeloid lymphocyte
EPA	Eicosapentanoic acid
EPO	Erythropoietin
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
FA	Fatty acid
FLT3	FMS like kinase
GA	Geldanamycin



Х

GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GATA	Globin transcription factor
G-CSF	Granulocyte colony stimulating factor
GM-CSF	Granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor
GMP	Granulocyte macrophage progenitor
HDAC	Histone deacetylase
НОР	Hsp70-Hsp90 organizing protein
HSC	Hematopoietic stem cell
HSP	Heat shock proteins
IGF-1	Insulin like growth factor
IL-3	Interleukin 3
IMDM	Iscove's modified Dulbecco's medium
LEF	Lymphoid enhancer binding protein
LNA	Linoleic acid
M-CSF	Macrophage colony stimulating factor
MDR1	Multidrug resistant protein
MDS	Myelodysplastic syndrome
MM	Multiple myeloma
MMP-2	Matrix metalloproteinase
PCNA	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PGE2	Prostaglandin E2
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acid
Pgp	P-glycoprotein
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases
PML	Promyelocytic leukemia gene
RA	Retinoic acid
RAR-a	Retinoic acid receptor



SCF	Stem cell factor
SFRP	Secreted frizzled related protein
TAG	Triacylglyceride
TCF	T-cell factor
TPO	Thrombopoietin
TPR	Tetratricopeptide repeat
Wg	Wingless
YB-1	Y box protein



www.manaraa.com

# **CHAPTER One: INTRODUCTION**

# Hematopoiesis

Hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) are the stem cells that give rise to blood and immune cells. They are ultimately responsible for the constant renewal of blood as billions of new blood cells are produced every day. Hematopoietic stem cells have the capability of self renewal and multi-potent differentiation, and hematopoiesis is maintained by a proper balance between the two. Hematopoietic stem cells give rise to multipotent committed progenitors - common lymphoid progenitors (CLPs) and common myeloid progenitors (CMPs) (Figure 1.1). These multipotential committed precursors are highly proliferative and express receptors for specific growth and survival factors- the colony stimulating factors (CSF). The CMPs further produce megakaryotic/erythroid progenitors (MEPs), which differentiate into erythrocytes and platelets; and granulocye-monocyte progenitors (GMPs), which then produce granulocytes and monocytes. The CLPs give rise to mature T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes and natural killer cells (Kaushansky *et al.*, 2006; Tenen, 2003).

The production of hematopoietic cells is under the tight control by a group of hematopoietic cytokines. Among these, the most important regulators of HSC maintenance are stem cell factor (SCF), and thrombopoietin (TPO). Receptors for TPO and SCF, c-Mpl and c-Kit, respectively, are both expressed on the surface of HSCs. SCF is expressed constitutively in bone marrow (BM) stromal fibroblasts and endothelial cells and is essential to the survival, proliferation and differentiation of HSCs (Broudy, 1997; Hartman *et al.*, 2001). Administration of a neutralizing antibody against c-Kit in mice led to the depletion of all progenitor cells in two days, indicating the role of SCF in HSC maintenance (Ogawa *et al.*, 1991).





**Figure 1.1. A general model of hematopoiesis.** Blood-cells are produced from a hematopoietic stem cell (HSC), which can undergo either self-renewal or differentiation into a multilineage committed progenitor cells These include common lymphoid progenitor (CLP) and common myeloid progenitor (CMP). CMP further divides to give rise to more differentiated progenitors, committed to granulocytes and macrophages (GMs), and megakaryocytes and erythroid cells (MEPs). CLP produces progenitors committed to T cells and natural killer cells (TNKs) and B cells (BCPs). Successive division and differentiation of these progenitors give rise to fully differentiated cells-B cells, NK cells, T cells, neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, monocytes, platelets and erythrocytes. Different cluster of differentiation antigens (CD) and markers expressed on the surface of each cell type are shown in blue. NK cells (NKPs), T cells (TCPs), granulocytes (GPs), monocytes (MPs), erythrocytes (EPs), megakaryocytes (MkPs).



Mice with loss-of-function mutations in TPO or c-Mpl have a decrease in the number of HSC that can repopulate the bone marrow. Further, there is reduction in the expansion of HSCs that occurs after bone marrow transplantation. This suggests that TPO plays role in promoting the survival and the expansion of HSCs.

Myeloid cell development involves the interaction of various cytokines in the survival, proliferation and differentiation of myeloid progenitors (Figure 1.1). Interleukein-3 (IL-3), SCF and TPO are involved in the formation of MEP from CMP. The differentiation of MEP into megakaryocytes or erythrocytes depends on the presence of TPO or erythropoietin (EPO). CMP give rise to GMP in the presence of granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF). Differentiation of these committed progenitors into the granulocyte lineage or monocyte lineage requires granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) or macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF), respectively (Kaushansky *et al.*, 2006).

Apart from cytokines, transcriptions factors are also thought to play critical role in regulating normal hematopoiesis. These include lineage-specific factors and non-specific transcription factors. The lineage-specific transcription factors are differentiating factors such as PU.1, CCAAT/enhancer binding protein  $\alpha$  (C/EBP  $\alpha$ ) and GATA1, affecting only small number of related lineages. The non-lineage-specific transcription factors such as AML1 and SCL are involved in almost all lineages. Disruption of acute myeloid leukemia (AML1) or stem cell leukemia (SCL) affects formation of the entire blood cell lineage, as these transcription factors function at the pre-hematopoietic stem cell stage (Tenen, 2003; Rosenbauer and Tenen, 2007). Expression of PU.1 is considered one of the earliest events favoring HSCs to lineage commitment. PU.1 and GATA-1 are co-expressed in CMPs but their mutually exclusive expression coincides with further commitment to either granulocytic/monocytic or megakaryocytic/erythroid differentiation (Zhu and Emerson. 2002). In



3

erythroid/megakaryocytic leukemia cell line, K562 ectopic expression of PU.1 led to their differentiation into granulocytes and monocytes, instead of megakaryocytes upon Ras pathway activation. Further, overexpression of GATA-1 in granulocytic progenitor 32D cells redirects them to megakaryopoiesis (Matsumura *et al.*, 2000).

Disruption of this transcription factor function can interfere with the normal cellular differentiation and lead to leukemia. Leukemia is characterized by a terminal differentiation block of hematopoietic cells while the self renewal and proliferation is preserved. Understanding the pathways by which transcription factors regulate differentiation is important to developing improved treatments for hematological malignancies including leukemia.

#### Acute myelogenous leukemia

Various hematological abnormalities including myelodysplastic syndrome arise from the dysregulation of the hematopoietic process. Myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS) is a preleukemic state which involves the ineffective production of the myeloid cells. In one third of patients with MDS, the disease transforms into acute myelogenous leukemia (AML), usually within months to a few years. Leukemia comprises 33% of childhood cancers and is the most prevalent cancer in the children. Among different types of leukemia, AML is the most common leukemia diagnosed in infants with a five-year survival rate of 22.6% (Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results, NCI). AML is characterized by bone marrow infiltration of abnormal hematopoietic precursors and resulting disruption of normal production of red blood cells, white blood cells, or platelets. It is diagnosed based on the presence of >30% immature and functionless cells called blasts in the bone marrow and peripheral blood. Symptoms in most patients arise from disruption of normal blood component production and include fatigue, anemia, bleeding and bruising (thrombocytopenia), and fever with or without infection.



Transcription factor	Frequency in AML
RUNX1–ETO (t(8;21))	12–15%
CBFβ–MYH11 (inv16)	8–10%
PML–RARα (t(15;17))	6-7%
MLL fusions (t11q23)	4-7%
C/EBPa	7-9%
GATA1	Nearly 100% in AMKL associated with Down's syndrome
PU.1	<7%
RUNX1	9%

Table 1.1. Examples of transcription factor mutations in patients with AML. Abbreviations : AML, acute myeloid leukaemia; AMKL, acute megakaryoblastic leukaemia; CBF $\beta$ , corebinding factor- $\beta$ ; C/EBP $\alpha$ , CCAAT/enhancer binding protein- $\alpha$  GATA1, GATA-binding protein 1; MLL, mixed lineage leukaemia; PML, promyelocytic leukaemia; PU.1, transcription factor encoded by SPI1; RAR $\alpha$  retinoic acid receptor- $\alpha$ ; RUNX1, runt-related transcription factor 1.

Chromosome aberrations are detectable in the leukemic blasts of approximately 55% of adults with AML. Aberrant transcription factor activity in AML is associated with acquired chromosomal translocations that result in oncogenic fusion products such as RUNX1–ETO t(8;21) CBF $\beta$ –MYH11; Inv16, MLL (mixed lineage leukaemia; t(11q23) and PML–RAR $\alpha$  (promyelocytic leukaemia–retinoic acid receptor- $\alpha$ ; t(15;17) (Table1.1). These chromosomal changes have been recognized as the most important prognostic factor for achievement of



complete remission, risk of relapse, and overall survival (Döhner and Döhner, 2008). Several mutations that have been identified in genes such as C/EBPα GATA1, NPM1, FLT3 and c-Kit and are associated with poor prognosis in AML (Rosenbauer and Tenen, 2007). Mutations in the GATA1 gene that results in the formation of a truncated GATA1 protein with altered transcriptional function occurs in acute megakaryoblastic leukemia (AMKL) affecting patients with Down syndrome (Wechsler *et al.*, 2002).

#### **Stress response**

Stress induced by change in temperature leads to a complex program of gene expression and adaptive response. These cell stress responses are of great interest both to basic biology and to medicine. The ability to survive and adapt to thermal stress appears to be a fundamental requirement of cellular life, as cell stress responses are ubiquitous among both eukaryotes and prokaryotes. Increase in temperature can result in a heat shock response and can lead to the production of heat shock proteins (Hsp), while a decrease in temperature induces a cold shock response resulting in cold shock proteins. Heat and cold shock responses are both involved in inhibition of cell growth and reduction in protein synthesis. Depending on the intensity of the exposure both heat and cold stress can lead to the activation of the apoptotic program and, in the extreme cases, necrosis (Sonna *et al.*, 2002).

New approaches are emerging in order to find therapies for AML. Some of these approaches address the role of stress proteins in cancer. Cancer cells exist in a state of stress and rely upon stress related proteins for survival. Many malignant cells have constitutively high levels of stress proteins that correlate with aggressive and resistant tumors, resulting in poor prognosis. Thus, stress proteins have been identified as attractive targets for therapy in cancer.



#### Heat shock protein 90 (Hsp90)

In 1962, investigators reported that heat induced a characteristic pattern of puffing in the chromosomes of *Drosophila* (Ritossa, 1962). This discovery eventually led to the identification of the heat-shock proteins (Hsp) or stress proteins whose expression these puffs represented. It was found that brief exposure of cells to high temperature can provide protection from subsequent larger increases in temperature, even when this increase would normally be lethal. Increased synthesis of Hsp in *Drosophila* cells following stresses such as heat shock was first demonstrated in 1974 (Tissieres, 1974). Later it was shown that the heat shock response is ubiquitous and highly conserved in all organisms from bacteria to humans (Schlesinger *et al.*, 1982).

Hsp act as molecular chaperone by enabling protein folding and assist in protein trafficking. Molecular chaperones are a ubiquitous class of proteins that play important roles in protein folding and in the protection of cells from several stresses associated with the disruption of protein structure including heat shock. Chaperones bind to and stabilize the unstable conformation of another protein therby helping in its folding and assembly. One major function of chaperones is to prevent both newly synthesized polypeptide chains and assembled subunits from aggregating into nonfunctional structures (Hartl, 1996).

Hsp90 is a specialized molecular chaperone required for the stability and function of numerous client proteins (substrate protein) that are mainly involved in signal transduction pathways. In unstressed cells, Hsp90 accounts for 1–2% of total protein, but in response to heat shock this increases to 4–6% of cellular protein. Hsp90 is distinct from other chaperone systems as it does not fold non-native proteins but rather binds to substrate proteins at a later stage of folding. It interacts with various protein substrates to assist in their folding and plays a critical role during cell stress by repairing damaged proteins (protein refolding), or by degrading them thus restoring protein homeostasis and promoting cell survival (Jolly *et al.*, 2000). Moreover,



7

Hsp90 is critical to the survival of the organism since the genetic knockout of Hsp90 is lethal in mice (Voss *et al.*, 2000).

#### Hsp90 isoforms and structure

Hsp90 is highly conserved and expressed in a variety of different organisms from bacteria to mammals. There are five functional human genes which encode Hsp90 protein isoforms. In mammalian cells, there are two or more genes encoding cytosolic Hsp90 homologues Hsp90a (inducible form) and Hsp90 $\beta$  (constitutive form) which are the result of a gene duplication event (Csermely *et al.*, 1998). Human Hsp90a shows 85% sequence identity to Hsp90 $\beta$  (Chen *et al.*, 2005; Chen *et al.*, 2006). An important difference is that the Hsp90a form readily dimerizes, whereas the  $\beta$  form does so with much less efficiency. Hsp90a is shown to play a regulatory role in muscle cell differentiation of zebrafish while Hsp90 $\beta$  is required for early embryonic development (Reviewed in Sreedhar *et al.*, 2004). Recently another Hsp90 isoform has been identified, Hsp90N, which shares high sequence homology with the other two Hsp90 isoforms, but lacks the N-terminal domain (Figure 1.2). It has been shown to be associated with cellular transformation by activating Raf in rat F111 fibroblasts (Grammatikakis *et al.*, 2002). However, a later study reported the existence of this isoform to be accidental and occurred due to chromosomal rearrangement in a single cell line (Zurawska *et al.*, 2008).

Two other isoforms include GRP94 in the endoplasmic reticulum and TRAP1 in the mitochondrial matrix. GRP94 is glucose-regulated, induced by glucose starvation and is known to participate in protein folding and assembly (Gupta, 1995). TRAP1 acts as a molecular chaperone to retinoblastoma protein (Rb) during cellular stress. It possesses a unique LxCxE motif which is involved in binding to Rb. This motif is absent in all other Hsp90 family



members (Chen *et al.*, 1996; Felts *et al.*, 2000). There is still not much known about the function of these two isoforms of Hsp90.

#### Structure of Hsp90

Hsp90 consists of four structural domains (Figure 1.2). A highly conserved N terminal domain (NTD) which has an ATP binding pocket necessary for Hsp90 function. Various natural and synthetic inhibitors of Hsp90 bind at this site.



**Figure 1.2. Structure of Hsp90 and its various isoforms.** There are four structural domains of Hsp90. The N terminal domain (NTD) is highly conserved and has an ATP binding site. A charged linker region connects the NTD with the middle domain (MD). This linker region is absent in TRAP1. MD is involved in binding to client proteins. The C terminal domain (CTD) is the dimerization domain and has TPR binding site where cochaperones such as HOP bind. The TPR region is absent in TRAP1 and GRP94 has instead an endoplasmic retention site.



With the exception of TRAP1 there is a charged linker region that connects the NTD with the middle domain (MD). The MD is also involved in client protein binding. The C-terminal domain (CTD) is the dimerization domain. In eukaryotes, the CTD has the tetratricopeptide repeat (TPR) motif recognition site (consisting of amino acids MEEVD), which regulates ATPase activity (Wandinger *et al.*, 2008). This region is responsible for the interaction with cochaperones such as HOP (Hsp 70-Hsp90 organizing protein). The TPR binding site is absent in TRAP1 while in GRP94 this is replaced with an endoplasmic retention site. While the C-terminal domain provides for the constitutive dimerization of Hsp90, the N-terminal domain undergoes transient dimerization driven by ATP binding (Prodromou and Pearl, 2003).

The protein folding activity of Hsp90 is regulated by the dynamic association of various co-chaperones (Figure 1.3). Hsp90 dimerizes at its CTD to form a U shaped structure such that the N terminal domain is available for protein interaction. Hsp 70 and Hsp 40 form a complex with the client protein for delivery to Hsp90 (Mahalingam *et al.*, 2009). Hsp90 binds to the Hsp70 complex by the adapter protein HOP via the TPR domain which is present at the CTD of both Hsp90 and Hsp70. This is described as the "open conformation". Recruitment of ATP to the NTD of Hsp90 results in dimerization and a conformational change leading to the formation of clamp around the client protein (Prodromou *et al.*, 2003). This is referred as the "closed confirmation" and results in the dissociation of HSP70/HSP40/HOP complex. Aha is a cofactor that can bind and stimulate the activity of ATPase. Cdc37 and p23 are then recruited which help in the stabilization of the client protein and facilitates ATP hydrolysis (Pratt and Toft, 2003; Pearl *et al.*, 2003). This complex assists in the conformational maturation of the client and maintains the protein in an active state capable of exerting its function.





**Figure1.3**. The Hsp90 superchaperone compex cycle. The binding of a client protein to Hsp90 requires the co-operation of another chaperone, Hsp70 and its co-factor Hsp40. Hsp90 dimerizes at its C-terminal end. Hsp70 and Hsp 40 form a complex with client protein for delivery to Hsp90. Hsp70 complex binds to Hsp90 by an adapter protein (HOP), through the small helical TPR domains which is present at the C-terminal end of both Hsp90 and Hsp70. Initiation of ATPase activity by binding of cofactors like Aha results in a conformational change (clamp formation) in Hsp90 such that it dissociates from the Hsp70/Hsp40/HOP complex. Cdc37 and p23 then replace the original cochaperones to assist in conformational maturation of the client protein and its activation. Inhibition of ATP-binding through Hsp90 inhibitors prevents client protein maturation and results in degradation of these oncogenic proteins by the proteasome.



#### **Role of Hsp90 in cancer**

Hsp90 protein is found to be overexpressed constitutively in various types of cancer cells (Multhoff and Hightower, 1996). Hsp90 regulates the conformation, activity, function and stability of client proteins. There are over 100 known Hsp90 client proteins that include transcription factors and protein kinases involved in oncogenic signal transduction pathways. Hsp90 is overexpressed in breast, pancreatic, lung, ovarian cancers (Ochel and Gademan, 2002). Moreover, Hsp90 expression is high in various leukemic cell lines and human acute leukemia cells (Yu Fu *et al.*, 1992). Recently, Hsp90 was reported to be overexpressed in AML patients and was associated with poor prognosis (Flandrin *et al.*, 2008). Thus, Hsp90 is the principle molecular chaperone implicated in oncogenesis making it an attractive target for cancer therapy.

Cancer cells are particularly sensitive to Hsp90 inhibition and the therapeutic selectivity for cancer versus normal cells is based upon three main factors (reviewed in Pearl *et al.*, 2008). Firstly, according to the 'oncogene addiction model,' cancer cells exclusively depend on a sensitive Hsp90 client protein that drives malignancy. Degradation of a specific Hsp90 client has a greater impact on the cancer cells than in normal cells. For example, degradation of mutant BRAF in a melanoma cell or Bcr-Abl in chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) results in apoptosis and/or differentiation, whereas their degradation in normal cells leads to little or no effect. Secondly, many oncoproteins are expressed in mutated forms in cancer cells that are much more dependent on Hsp90 for their stability and activity than their normal counterparts, e.g. Bcr-Abl, EGFR and BRAF. Thirdly, cancer cells become dependent on Hsp90 to manage the cellular stress created by the oncogenic process and the hypoxia, acidosis and nutrient deprivation of the tumor microenvironment (reviewed in Solit and Chios, 2008). In support of this hypothesis, Kamal *et al.* have shown that Hsp90 in tumor cells is found entirely in an active complex with co-chaperones, whereas most Hsp90 in normal tissues



resides in a free, uncomplexed, or latent state. Since the binding affinity of Hsp90 inhibitors is higher for tumor derived Hsp90 than in normal cells it allows specific targeting of tumor cells (Kamal *et al.*, 2003).

Hsp90 inhibition results in proteasomal degradation of large number of oncogenic client proteins which are involved in all the hallmark traits of cancer, including proliferation, evasion of apoptosis, immortalization, invasion, angiogenesis and metastasis. Targeting Hsp90 may be beneficial as it has a combinatorial impact on multiple oncogenic pathways. In addition, this combinatorial action should markedly reduce the opportunities for cancer cells to develop resistance to Hsp90 inhibition.

#### Hsp90 inhibitors

Targeting Hsp90 with drugs has shown promise in clinical trials. Hsp90 inhibitors cause the destabilization and eventual degradation of Hsp90 client proteins. Majority of Hsp90 inhibitors bind to the ATP pocket of Hsp90 and block the ATPase cycle that is essential for Hsp90 function (reviewed in Taldone *et al.*, 2009). Hsp90 inhibitors Geldanamycin (GA) and Radicicol were discovered as natural products and originally isolated as antibiotics.

Geldanamycin (GA) is a benzoquinone ansamycin which binds to the ATP pocket of the N-terminal domain of Hsp90 and inhibits the binding of ATP. This inhibition targets bound client proteins for ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation leading to depletion of oncoproteins and consequent cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis (Hostein *et al.*, 2001). Later it was found that GA is insoluble in water, unstable and exhibits severe hepatotoxicity. Therefore 17allylamino-17-desmethoxygeldanamycin (17-AAG) was developed to enhance the solubility and therapeutic index of geldanamycin. 17-AAG is currently being used in animal models of cancer and has progressed to clinical trials (reviewed in Taldone *et al.*, 2009).



Approximately one third of acute myeloid leukemias have activating mutations of FLT3, which are associated with adverse clinical outcome. 17-AAG exhibits a potent activity against leukemic cell lines, particularly those harboring a FLT3 mutation (Minami *et al.*, 2002). However a recent study reported the effect of 17AAG on a large scale of AML patients. In this study, overexpression of Hsp90 was associated with poor prognosis and resistance to chemotherapy in AML patients. Leukemic cells from the patients with higher Hsp90 expression showed spontaneous growth in liquid culture and colony formation. *In vitro* exposure of leukemic cells to 17-AAG resulted in inhibition of growth in liquid and clonogeneic cultures and induced apoptosis (Flandrin *et al.*, 2008).

Chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) is characterised by the BCR-ABL fusion gene, which is a constitutively active cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase. Imatinib mesylate targets the ATPbinding site of the kinase domain of ABL and is being used to treat CML patients (Druker *et al.*, 2001). However, patients can develop imatinib resistance (Gorre *et al.*, 2001). Heat-shock protein 90 maintains BCR-ABL stability and function. Treatment of BCR-ABL resistant cells with 17-AAG was shown to target BCR-ABL for degradation and to suppress cell proliferation (Nimmanapalli *et al.*, 2001). Furthermore, Hsp90 inhibitors have been used in combination with histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors to induce apoptosis and inhibit cell growth in both imatinib-sensitive and resistant BCR-ABL cells (Rahmani *et al.*, 2005).

Stress induced by exposure to low temperature in cells can produce cold shock proteins which are involved in a cold shock response. The cold shock response is similar to the heat shock response in terms of inhibition of growth and reduction in protein synthesis in cells. However, the heat shock response is ubiquitous and highly conserved in all organisms from bacteria to humans and Hsp function as a molecular chaperone or protease. Moreover, cold shock proteins are found only in bacteria and function as an RNA chaperone (Matisumoto *et al.*, 1998). In eukaryotes, the homologous region to the bacterial cold shock proteins is found in



the nucleic acid binding region of the cold shock domain (CSD) protein family (Kohno *et al.*, 2003).

#### Y Box protein (YB-1)

Y-box proteins are members of the cold shock protein family that contain a CSD which is highly conserved during evolution. There are three Y-box proteins in human and mouse, two of which are expressed in both somatic and germ cells (Table 1.2). Contrin in human and MSY2 in mouse are germ cell-specific members of the Y-box protein family. The Y-box protein, YB-1 (p50 or dbpB) is the most extensively studied member which is ubiquitously expressed in various tissues (reviewed Matsumoto and Bay., 2005).

Human	Mouse	Expression
YB-1/DbpB	YB-1/MSY1	Ubiquitous
DbpA	MSY4	Ubiquitous (Abundant in heart, muscle and testis)
Contrin/DbpC	MSY2	Germ cells

#### Table 1.2. Y-box proteins in human and mouse



#### **YB-1** expression, structure and function

YB-1 was originally identified as a transcription factor and was named because it binds to the Ybox (inverted CCAAT-box) sequence of the major histocompatibility complex class II gene (Didier *et al.*, 1998). The CSD of the vertebrate protein is 40% homologous with the cold shock protein isolated from bacteria (Kohno *et al.*, 2003).



**Figure 1.4 The Structure and Functions of YB-1**. YB-1 protein has three domains: N-terminal, cold shock (CSD) and C-terminal domains (CTD). The N-terminal is involved in transactivation whereas the CSD is the most conserved domain and is important for RNA/DNA binding. The CTD has basic and acidic amino acids referred as B/A repeats and mediates protein: protein interactions. Cellular trafficking is regulated by the presence of a nuclear localization signal (NLS) and a cytoplasmic retention site (CRS) in the C-terminal domain.

The human YB-1 gene is contains 8 exons and is located on chromosome 1p34 (Toh *et al.*, 1998).The mRNA is about 1.5 kb long and encodes a 43 kDa protein which has 324 amino acids (Didier *et al.*, 1988). YB-1 is broadly expressed throughout development. High levels of YB-1 are present in human fetal tissues of heart, muscle, liver, lung, adrenal gland, bone marrow,



kidney and brain. On the other hand, YB-1 transcripts are not detected or are expressed at a very low level in many adult tissues (Spitkovsky *et al.*, 1992). Expression level of YB-1 correlates with the cell proliferation state (reviewed in Lu *et al.*, 2005). Also, high levels of YB-1 are detected in regenerating liver after tissue damage and the proliferating compartment of colorectal mucosa (Ladometry and Sommerville, 1995).

#### Structure of YB-1

The YB-1 protein consists of three domains: the variable N-terminal domain, a highly conserved cold shock domain (CSD) and the C terminal tail domain (CTD) (Figure 1.4). The N-terminal domain is rich in alanine and proline residues and is thought to be involved in transactivation. The CSD is the most evolutionary conserved nucleic acid-binding domain that binds RNA, as well as single-stranded and double-stranded DNA. The CTD of YB-1 contains alternating regions of basic and acidic amino acids, called B/A repeats or charged zipper, and facilitates dimer formation. This region is suggested to mediate protein–protein interactions. YB-1 has been shown to interact with a number of cellular and viral proteins that are involved in various cellular processes. Cellular localization of YB-1 is controlled by the presence of a cytoplasmic retention site (CRS) and a nuclear localization signal (NLS) in the CTD (reviewed in Kohno *et al.*, 2003; Wu *et al.*, 2007).

#### **Functions of YB-1**

#### **Transcription and Translation**

As a transcription factor, YB-1 binds to the inverted CCAAT-box that is known as the Y-box in the promoter regions of several eukaryotic genes involved in cell growth including proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA), epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR $\alpha$ ), DNA polymerase  $\alpha$ 



and DNA topoisomerase II  $\alpha$  (Wolfe, 1994; Ladometry and Somerville, 1995; Kohno *et al.*, 2003). In the cytoplasm, YB-1 acts as a RNA chaperone by associating with mRNAs to form messenger ribonucleoprotein particles. YB-1 regulates translation in a dose-dependent manner; low concentrations of YB-1 activate translation and high concentrations repress it (Evdokimova and Ovchinnikov, 1999). YB-1 can shuttle to the nucleus and back to the cytoplasm, which contributes to its function as a regulator of transcription and translation.

#### **DNA Repair**

YB-1 has been shown to be overexpressed in cisplastin-resistant cell lines and reduction of YB-1 leads to increased sensitivity to cisplatin and other DNA interacting drugs (Ohga *et al.*, 1996). It is reported to interact with PCNA (Ise *et al.*, 1999) and p53 (Okomoto *et al.*, 2000), which suggests that YB-1 may be involved in DNA repair and the DNA damage response. Moreover, YB-1 is shown to possess 3'-5' exonuclease activity (Izumi *et al.*, 2001). However, the regulation of this enzymatic activity *in vivo* is not known.

#### **Drug resistance**

The multidrug resistance gene (MDR-1) codes for P-glycoprotein (Pgp). Pgp is an ATP binding cassette (ABC) transporter that is responsible for the efflux of a variety of compounds out of the cell. These transporters act as a protective mechanism by reducing the toxins within a cell but they can also cause drug resistance by eliminating clinically useful drugs. Nuclear localization of YB-1 has been associated with the expression of Pgp and development of drug resistance in breast cancer, melanoma and multiple myeloma (Janz *et al.*, 2002; Schittek *et al.*, 2007; Chatterjee *et al.*, 2007).



#### **Biological role of YB-1**

YB-1 plays a role in embryonic development. Homozygous deletion of YB-1 in mouse embryos results in late embryonic/perinatal lethality after embryonic day 13.5. This occurs due to major developmental defects such as neurological abnormalities, hemorrhage and respiratory failure. Moreover there is hypoplasia in multiple organ systems in late stage embryos that leads to growth retardation. In this study, mice heterozygous for loss of YB-1 did not develop any abnormalities in YB-1 function and were phenotypically indistinguishable from the wild type littermates (Lu *et al.*, 2005).



**Figure 1.5. Model of YB-1 function.** YB-1 is an important component of cellular stress response pathway which protects cells from a variety of stresses. In mammalian cells, YB-1 expression is induced in response to environmental stress leading to its accumulation in the nucleus. YB-1 deficiency results in the loss of this protective mechanism. Thus, cells deficient in YB-1 show an increased sensitivity to environmental stresses and undergo premature senescence.



YB-1 is considered an important component of a cellular response pathway that is required to protect cells from a variety of stresses (Figure 1.5). Fibroblasts derived from YB-1<sup>-/-</sup> embryos demonstrated increased sensitivity to oxidative, genotoxic and oncogene induced stress. Under oxidative stress, populations of YB-1<sup>-/-</sup> mouse embryonic fibroblasts have a large percentage of cells in the  $G_0/G_1$  phase of cell cycle. These cells accumulate negative cell cycle regulators such as p16 and p21 and senescence prematurely (Lu *et al.*, 2005). Two previous studies reported that the loss of one functional allele of YB-1 resulted in a haplo-insufficient phenotype *in vitro*. Targeted YB-1 heterozygous mutations in the chicken lymphoid DT40 cell line showed major cellular defects such as aneuploidy and severe apoptosis (Swamynathan *et al.*, 2002). Targeted disruption of one allele of YB-1 in mouse embryonic stem cells caused abnormal sensitivity to external cytotoxic stimuli (Shibhara *et al.*, 2004). These studies suggest that YB-1 plays a crucial role in cell growth and stress response.

#### **Role of YB-1 in cancer**

Similar to Hsp90, YB-1 has been shown to be overexpressed in variety of human cancers including breast, thyroid, colorectal, prostate and melanoma (Kohno *et al.*, 2003). Several clinical studies revealed that increased YB-1 expression is associated with poor prognosis in non small cell lung, prostate, ovarian and breast cancer (Kuwano *et al.*, 2004). YB-1 has been shown to play role in cell proliferation and cell cycle progression. Increased YB-1 expression is correlated with PCNA and DNA topoisomerase II $\alpha$  expression in colorectal cancer, human lung cancer and is linked to markers of cellular proliferation in osteosarcoma (reviewed in Matsumoto and Bay, 2005). Further, YB-1 acts as a cell cycle stage-specific transcription factor. In HeLa cells, nuclear accumulation of YB-1 transcriptionally activates cyclin A and B1 genes, which are crucial for cell cycle progression (Jurchott *et al.*, 2003).



20



**Figure 1.6. Schematic of the signal transduction pathways of YB-1 in cancer cells.** Growth factors such as insulin like growth factor, IGF-1, and cytokines activate various kinases that can phosphorylate YB-1. It is generally thought that phosphorylation of YB-1 by kinases such as Akt in the cytoplasm leads to nuclear trafficking and DNA binding. The phosphorylation of YB-1 can also alter its role in translation initiation, mRNA splicing and/or transport. In the nucleus, YB-1 directly binds to the inverted CAAT boxes and activates multiple genes involved in cell growth. It can also indirectly induce the expression of oncogenes by binding to other transcription factors such as AP-1 and p53. Thus, oncogene expression can be induced by YB-1 through transcriptional as well as translational control.



In a transgenic mouse model, YB-1 has been shown to induce mammary tumor formation through chromosomal instability. This chromosomal instability occurred due to mitotic failure and centrosome amplification (Bergmann *et al.*, 2005). In addition, YB-1 is believed to promote tumor invasion and metastasis by controlling the expression of a matrix metalloproteinase (MMP-2) (Cheng *et al.*, 2002). Also, YB-1 has been reported to be involved in inducing drug resistance in cancer cells. YB-1 positively regulates the transcription of MDR1, and in a number of malignancies YB-1 levels are closely associated with the expression of Pgp (Janz *et al.*, 2002; Schittek *et al.*, 2007; Chatterjee *et al.*, 2007; Bargou *et al.*, 1997).

Many proteins that phosphorylate YB-1 have an important role in the signal transduction pathways associated with growth and survival of cancer (Figure 1.6). Various growth factors such as insulin like growth factor (IGF-1) and cytokines activate kinases that can phosphorylate YB-1. Phosphorylation by kinases such as Akt, MAPK, or Jak in the cytoplasm leads to the nuclear translocation of YB-1 where it transactivates genes involved in cell growth (EGFR, PCNA, Topoisomerase II  $\alpha$ , DNA polymerase  $\alpha$ ), cell invasion (MMP-2) and represses genes that induce apotosis (Fas) and cell differentiation (GM-CSF). Phosphorylation of YB-1 can also alter its role in translation initiation, mRNA splicing and transport. In the nucleus, YB-1 directly binds to inverted CAAT boxes and activates multiple genes involved in cell growth. It can also indirectly induce the expression of oncogenes by binding to other transcription factors such as activator protein (AP-1) and p53. Thus, oncogene expression can be induced by YB-1 through transcriptional as well as translational control (Wu *et al.*, 2007).

#### Role of YB-1 in hematological malignancies

Evidence for the involvement of YB-1 in hematological disorders such as MDS comes from a gene array study where YB-1 expression was found to be higher in the bone marrow



samples of MDS patients (Lee *et al.*, 2001). A later study identified YB-1 as a gene that is differentially expressed in the wild type and heterozygous GATA-1 knockdown mice. GATA-1 is a transcription factor essential for erythropoiesis, and heterozygous knockdown of GATA-1 in mice leads to maturation arrest and transformation of erythroblasts. GATA-1 knockdown mice exhibit increased expression of YB-1 in its spleen as compared to wild-type mice (Yokoyama *et al.*, 2003a). GATA-1 mutant mice have a phenotype similar to humans with MDS in early stages of life which transforms into acute leukemia in later stages of life. Another study by the same group showed YB-1 mRNA to be highly expressed in the erythroblasts from the patients with myelodysplastic syndrome refractory anemia (MDS-RA) relative to normal patients (Yokoyama *et al.*, 2003 b). These studies suggested a role for YB-1 in hematopoiesis, particularly erythroid development. Recently, YB-1 was demonstrated to be strongly expressed in immature and anaplastic multiple myeloma (MM) cells from the bone marrow of patients and in various MM cell lines indicating its potential involvement in leukemia (Chatterjee *et al.*, 2007).

Though YB-1 has been studied extensively in solid tumors there is a paucity of information about its role and regulation of gene expression in hematopoiesis. Also, there are few studies demonstrating the association of YB-1 with MDS and leukemia. The objective of the study in chapter 2 was to determine the role of YB-1 in hematopoiesis and leukemia. In chapter 2, we show that YB-1 is highly expressed in stem/progenitor cells and is downregulated during myeloid differentiation. Moreover, abnormal expression of YB-1 in leukemic cells could contribute to their leukemic cell properties by blocking differentiation.


# Wnt signaling

In previous studies, it was shown that mutations in the chromatin remodeling genes or Hsp90 in *Drosophila* resulted in the gain-of-function expression of Wg to produce an abnormal eye phenotype. This phenotype was epigenetically inherited (Sollars *et al.*, 2003). The studies presented in chapter 3 were aimed to determine the effect of Hsp90 modulation on the Wnt pathway in a mammalian model system.

Wnt signaling is involved in embryogenesis and controls diverse cellular behaviors such as cell proliferation, stem cell maintenance and cell fate decisions. Dysregulated Wnt signalling has been shown to be associated with cancer. Therefore, researchers have focused on targeting this pathway for developing better therapies against cancer.

Investigators first identified Wnt genes independently in *Drosophila* and mouse. Wingless (Wg) was identified as a segment polarity gene in *Drosophila* (Sharma and Chopra, 1976), while int-1 was cloned as a proto-oncogene in mouse (Nusse, 1984). The name "Wnt" was derived from "wingless" and "int-1" after these two genes were shown to encode homologous proteins (Rijsewijk *et al.*, 1987).

In humans, there are at least 19 members of the Wnt family and at least 10 members of its receptor family, FZ (frizzled) (Reya and Clevers, 2005; Mao *et al.*, 2001). Wnt signals transduce two distinct pathways: the canonical pathway for cell fate determination and the non-canonical pathway for the control of cell movement and tissue polarity. Canonical Wnts include Wnt1, Wnt3A and Wnt 8 while non-canonical Wnts are Wnt4, Wnt5A and Wnt11.





Figure 1.7. The canonical Wnt signaling pathway. (A) In the absence of Wnt binding to Fz, Dsh remains unactivated and  $\beta$ -catenin is bound by the destruction complex composed of APC/Axin/ GSK-3 $\beta$ . This complex phosphorylates  $\beta$ -catenin and is targeted for degradation. (B) When Wnt binds to Fz, Dsh is activated and uncouples  $\beta$ -catenin from the complex.  $\beta$ -catenin can then associate with transcription factors and mediate transcription of the target gene. Frizzled (Fz), Adenomatous polyposis coli (APC), dishevelled (Dsh), Glycogen synthase kinase 3 $\beta$  (GSK-3 $\beta$ ), Lymphoid enhancer-binding factor (LEF), T-cell factor (TCF), Adenomatous polyposis coli (APC).

The most studied Wnt pathway is the canonical pathway (Figure 1.7), which is activated by the binding of a Wnt ligand to a frizzled receptor (Reya and Clevers, 2005). In the absence of Wnt, ß-catenin is bound by the multiprotein "destruction complex" composed of the tumor suppressors, APC (adenomatous polyposis coli) and Axin. These latter protein bind and present ß-catenin to the kinases, glycogen synthase kinase 3 ß (GSK3 ß) and casein kinase I (CKI). This results in phosphorylation of ß-catenin and thereby it is targeted for



polyubiqitination and proteasomal degradation. In the presence of Wnt, ß-catenin binds to FZ and inhibits the destruction complex so that β-catenin remains unphosphorylated. This results in the translocation and accumulation of β-catenin in the nucleus. In the nucleus it interacts with the TCF/LEF family of transcription factors to activate downstream target genes such as c-Myc, CyclinD1 and matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) that regulate cell proliferation, differentiation and survival (Mc Donald *et al.*, 2006).

Canonical Wnt signaling is associated with the pathogenesis of several carcinomas. Dysregulation of Wnt/  $\beta$ -catenin signaling is involved in the initiation of colorectal carcinogenesis. APC is a tumor suppressor gene that can down-regulate the transcriptional activation mediated by Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin. APC mutations result in its inactivation and concominant loss of the inhibition of Wnt. Moreover, mutations of  $\beta$ -catenin in the functionally significant phosphorylation sites have been detected in colorectal cancer (Morin *et al.*, 1997). Furthermore mutations in members of the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway have been reported in hepatocellular and gastric cancers (Polakis *et al.*, 2000). Aberrant activation of the Wnt canonical signaling pathway is involved in pathogenesis of many types of cancers, making this pathway an attractive therapeutic target.

#### Wnt signaling and hematopoietic stem cells

The Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway has been shown to have an effect on controlling the proliferation, survival and differentiation of hematopoietic cells. It has been shown that expansion of HSC occurs in long-term cultures due to the overexpression of activated  $\beta$ -catenin. These expanded HSCs retained the functional characteristics of HSCs and are able to reconstitute the hematopoietic system *in vivo* (Reya *et al.*, 2003).

Activation of Wnt signaling pathway has been implicated in the pathogenesis of various



hematological malignancies including leukemia. ß-catenin activation coupled with GSK3 ß inactivation has been demonstrated in precursor B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). The granulocyte macrophage progenitor (GMP) has been identified as a candidate leukemic stem cell in blast crisis chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML), and it has elevated levels of nuclear β-catenin (Jamieson *et al.*, 2004). Also, constitutive expression of active β-catenin *in vivo* has been shown to result in loss of myeloid lineage commitment at the GMP stage, blocking erythrocyte differentiation and disrupting lymphoid development (Kirstetter *et al.*, 2006). Recently, it has been found that the Wnt/ β-catenin signaling pathway is required for self-renewal of leukemic stem cells (LSCs) that are derived from either HSC or more differentiated GMP (Wang *et al.*, 2010). This suggests the involvement of active β-catenin in leulemogenesis.

In the *Drosophila* model Wnt signaling was shown to be epigenetically regulated (Sollars *et al.*, 2003). Epigenetics involves changes in gene expression that are propagatable through mitosis or meiosis, and are caused by mechanisms other than a change in the DNA sequence. These can occur through DNA methylation, histone modifications, or non-coding RNA. Secreted frizzled related proteins (SFRP), which act as Wnt antagonists, can inhibit Wnt-Frizzled interaction by sequestration of the ligand. SFRPs have been shown to be regulated by promoter hypermethylation and have been implicated in various cancers (Suzuki *et al.*, 2004; Fukui *et al.*, 2005; Marsit *et al.*, 2006). Recently, SFRPs have also been found to be downregulated or inactivated by promoter hypermethylation in acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL) and AML (Jost *et al.*, 2008).

Inhibition of Hsp90 in *Drosophila* resulted in the up-regulation of Wg to produce an abnormal eye phenotype via epigenetically regulation (Sollars *et al.*, 2003). In chapter 3 we wanted to determine the effect of Hsp90 modulation on the Wnt pathway in a mammalian model system. We obtained mixed results in this study since the *in vitro* model system does not



recapitulate the stem cell niche seen *in vivo*. Hsp90 interacts with numerous signal transduction proteins including chromatin remodeling complexes. Therefore, there is a possibility that Hsp90 has an effect on the Wnt pathway, and if this can be demonstrated it will have profound implications for the treatment of cancer as Wnt signaling is activated in various cancers.

# **Omega Fatty acids and cancer**

In recent years, there has been increased focus on the role of specific dietary fatty acids and their effect on health and disease. Researchers have been studying the effects of poly unsaturated acids (PUFA) on cancer. This interaction will be important in devising new therapies for treatment and chemoprevention against cancer. AML is characterized by the inhibition of myeloid progenitor cell differentiation. Omega fatty acids have been shown to promote myeloid differentiation. Moreover, Wnt signaling has been demonstrated to be active in AML. Therefore, in the studies described in chapter 4 we have investigated the effect of omega fatty acids on Wnt signaling in the hematopoietic system.

Fatty acids (FA) are carboxylic acids with long hydrocarbon chains that can be saturated or unsaturated depending upon the presence of double bonds in the carbon chain. Fatty acids with multiple sites of unsaturation are termed as PUFAs. Omega-6 FAs are derived from linoleic acid (LA, 18:2) and the omega-3 FA are derived from  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid (ALA, 18:3). LA is metabolized to arachidonic acid (AA, 20:4, omega-6), while ALA can be metabolized to eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, 20:5, omega-3) and ultimately docosahexanoic acid (DHA, 22:6) (Anderson and Ma, 2009). Linoleic acid and  $\alpha$ -linolenic acid are omega-3 and omega-6 PUFAs that are essential for survival and must be obtained from dietary source, since they cannot be synthesized in mammals. Omega-3 (EPA) and Omega-6 (AA) PUFA are classified depending on the location of the first double bond relative to the methyl terminus





**Figure 1.8. Omega-3 and omega-6 Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA). (A)** Arachidonic acid with first double bond at carbon 6 from the methyl terminus. (B) Eicosapentanoic acid with first double bond at carbon 3 from the methyl terminus.

Omega-6 and omega-3 FA are important structural components of the phospholipid cell membranes and are essential for the activity of membrane-bound enzymes and receptors as well as signal transduction. Polyunsaturated FAs are substrates for eicosanoid synthesis, with omega-6 FAs converted into pro-inflammatory eicosanoids and omega-3 FAs being converted into anti-inflammatory eicosanoids. High omega-6/omega-3 tissue ratios contribute to the development of chronic diseases in later life such as coronary heart disease and stroke, or diabetes (Institute of medicine, 2005). Several studies suggest that omega-6 FA promote cancer development (Williams *et al.*, 2011) while omega-3 FA suppresses tumor carcinogenesis (Augustsson *et al.*, 2003; DeDecker, 1999; Calviello *et al.*, 2009).

Omega fatty acids have been found to have effects on the hematopoieis. Eicosanoids derived from AA metabolism (omega-6 FA) have been shown to play a role in myelopoiesis and erythropoiesis (Dupuis *et al.*, 1997). High omega-3/omega-6 FA ratio in the diet has been



reported to promote differentiation and reduce the frequency of myeloid progenitor cells in the bone marrow of mice (Varney *et al.*, 2009). Abnormal hematopoiesis results in excessive proliferation of immature blasts and inhibition of their differentiation into mature blood cells. This can lead to myeloproliferative disorders and leukemia. Since omega-3 FAs have been shown to promote differentiation they can be used as a therapeutic approach in leukemia.

Wnt signaling plays an important role in hematopoietic self renewal and differentiation (Reya *et al.*, 2003). Prostaglandin (PGE2) derived from AA (Omega-6 FA) metabolism regulates vertebrate HSC induction and engraftment (North *et al.*, 2007). Recently, it was reported that PGE2 interacts with Wnt and together they regulate murine stem and progenitor populations *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Goeslling *et al.*, 2009). Inhibition of PGE2 synthesis blocked Wnt-induced alterations in HSC formation at the level of β-catenin. This suggests that omega-6 FAs might play role in promoting HSC proliferation.

Aberrant Wnt signaling is associated with different cancers including AML and CML (Jamieson *et al.*, 2004). Earlier studies with *Drsophila* demonstrated the up-regulation of Wnt signaling after inhibition of Hsp90 by an epigenetic mechanism. SFRP which act as Wnt antagonists can inhibit Wnt-frizzled interaction by sequestration of the ligand. SFRP are negatively regulated by epigenetics (DNA methylation) and this leads to up-regulation of Wnt signaling. Up-regulation of Wnt signaling through down-regulation of SFRP occurs in ALL and AML (Jost *et al.*, 2008). Recently investigators reported that omega-3 fatty acids inhibited Wnt signaling in hepatocellular and cholangiocarcinoma (Lim *et al.*, 2008; Lim *et al.*, 2009). This suggests that omega-3 FA may be involved in the inhibition of Wnt signaling in leukemia by the down-regulation of SFRP.

Since Wnt signaling is important in hematopoietic stem cell maintenance and is involved in leukemia, I hypothesized that omega-3 FA might induce differentiation in leukemic cells by inhibiting the Wnt signaling via an epigenetic mechanism. To investigate the effects of



omega-3 and omega-6 FAs on the Wnt pathway I used a stem cell model, EML cells and leukemic cells. Wnt signaling activity was examined based upon the accumulation of β-catenin in the nucleus. In chapter 4, our prelimiary data initially showed that Wnt signaling is down-regulated upon exposure to omega-3 FAs in EML cells as well as HL-60 leukemic cells.



# CHAPTER TWO: YB-1 expression and function in early hematopoiesis and leukemic cells

With kind permission by Springer Science

# Jasjeet Bhullar and Vincent E. Sollars

Department of Biochemistry and Microbiology, Joan C. Edwards School of Medicine, Marshall University, Huntington, WV, USA

# **Correspondence:**

Vincent E. Sollars, Ph.D.,

Department of Biochemistry and Microbiology,

Joan C. Edwards School of Medicine

Marshall University,

One John Marshall Drive (BBSC), Huntington, West Virginia-25755, USA.

Tel: (304) 696-7357.

Fax: 304.696.7207

E-mail: sollars@marshall.edu

Published by Immunogenetics March 3, 2011 DOI 10.1007/s00251-011-0517-9



# Abstract

Hematopoietic transcription factors play a critical role in directing the commitment and differentiation of hematopoietic stem cells along a particular lineage. Y box protein (YB-1) is a transcription factor which is widely expressed throughout development and is involved in erythroid cell development, however its role in early hematopoietic differentiation is not known. Our objective was to investigate the role of YB-1 expression in early hematopoietic differentiation and leukemia. Here, we show that YB-1 is highly expressed in mouse erythroid, myeloid lymphoid-clone1 (EML), a hematopoietic precursor cell line, but is downregulated in myeloid progenitors, and GM-CSF treated EML cells. Moreover, we found that lineage/IL-7R<sup>-</sup>/c-kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca1<sup>+</sup> (LKS; enriched fraction of hematopoietic stem cells) and lineage<sup>-</sup>/IL-7R<sup>-</sup>/ckit<sup>+</sup>/Sca1<sup>-</sup> myeloid progenitor cells showed a high level of YB-1 expression as compared to the differentiated cells like granulocytes in mouse bone marrow (BM). Also, YB-1 protein was expressed at high levels in myeloid leukemic cell lines blocked at different stages of myeloid development. We further investigated the role of YB-1 in leukemic cells by knockdown studies and observed that down-regulation of YB-1 expression in K562 leukemic cells inhibited their proliferation ability, induced apoptosis and differentiation towards megakaryocytic lineage. Overall, our data indicates that YB-1 is down-regulated during myeloid differentiation and the aberrant YB-1 expression in leukemic cells could be a contributing factor in the development of leukemia by blocking their differentiation. Thus, YB-1 protein could be an excellent molecular target for therapy in myeloproliferative disorders and leukemia.

Key words: YB-1, EML cells, K562 cells, differentiation, mouse stem and progenitor cells



www.manaraa.com

# Introduction

Hematopoiesis is the process by which all the different cell lineages that form the blood and immune system are generated from a common pluripotent stem cell. It is maintained by a proper balance between self renewal and multi-potent differentiation of the hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) (Huntley and Gilliland., 2005). Transcription factors play a major role in differentiation in a number of cell types, including the various hematopoietic lineages (Tenen *et al.*, 1997). Among the best examples are PU.1, CCAT/enhancer binding protein  $\alpha$  (C/EBP $\alpha$ ), AML1, Globin Transcription Factor (GATA-1), c-myb, and SCL/Tal1 (Rosenbauer *et al.*, 2005). Myeloid gene expression is controlled by the combinatorial effects of several key transcription factors. Alteration of myeloid transcription factors (changes in expression and structure) lead to abnormal myelopoiesis and dysplasia (Tenen *et al.*, 1997). Consequently, a major focus of research in this area has been on the molecular mechanism controlling normal myeloid differentiation. To better understand the process of normal hematopoietic differentiation, it is important to identify and characterize the differential expression of transcription factors in HSCs and terminally differentiated cells.

It is difficult to study the early stages of hematopoietic differentiation because few experimental models are available to approach this question. The Erythroid Myeloid Lymphoidclone 1 (EML) cell line, developed from murine bone marrow cells transfected with a vector expressing a dominant negative form of the retinoic acid receptor, provides a unique *in vitro* model to address this question. EML cells can be indefinitely propagated in medium containing stem cell factor (SCF) and can be differentiated into erythroid, myeloid, lymphoid lineages by the addition of appropriate cytokines (Tsai *et al.*, 1994).

The Y-box protein (YB-1), also known as  $p^{50}$  or dbpB belongs to a superfamily of cold shock proteins that are highly conserved during evolution (Toh *et al.*, 1998). Y-box protein is involved in a wide variety of cellular functions, such as regulation of DNA transcription and



translation (Evdokimova *et al.*, 2006). YB-1 null mice can survive organogenesis and the majority of homozygous null embryos survive to day 18.5 of gestation (Lu *et al.*, 2005).YB-1 is an integral part of the cellular stress response signaling pathway required for protecting cells from a variety of stresses and prevention of premature senescence in cultured primary cells (Lu *et al.*, 2005). Y-box elements are present in the promoters of several genes associated with cell division, therefore it is suspected that YB-1 has a role in promoting cell proliferation (Wolfe 1994; Ladomery and Sommerville 1995). It has also been shown that down-regulation of YB-1 results in reduced proliferation and increased apoptotic cell death rates in multiple myeloma cells (Chatterjee *et al.*, 2008). The YB-1 transcript and protein have also been detected in mouse embryonic stem cells (Shibahara *et al.*, 2004). In summary, there is evidence for YB-1 having a role in cell proliferation, cell survival and protecting against apoptosis.

Increased nuclear and cytoplasmic expression of YB-1 has frequently been detected in a wide range of human cancers, including breast, thyroid, colorectal, osteosarcomas, and synovial sarcomas (Kohno *et al.*, 2003). Clinical studies on YB-1 have shown close association of the cellular level of YB-1 with tumor growth and prognosis in ovarian, lung and breast cancers (Kuwano *et al.*, 2004). YB-1 controls the expression of genes involved in tumor progression including matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2) and the multidrug resistance gene 1 (MDR-1) (Mertens *et al.*, 1997; Ohga *et al.*, 1998). Enhanced YB-1 expression is associated with tumor progression and drug resistance in melanoma and multiple myeloma (Schittek *et al.*, 2007; Chatterjee *et al.*, 2008).

Knockdown of GATA-1, a transcription factor essential for erythropoiesis in mice, leads to maturation arrest and transformation of erythroblasts. The GATA-1 mutant mouse (knockdown mouse) exhibits increased expression of YB-1 in its spleen as compared to the wild type mouse (Yokoyama *et al* 2003 a, b). Moreover, expression of YB-1 was found to be higher in the bone marrow samples of MDS patients (Lee *et al.*, 2001). The expression of YB-1



is higher in erythroblasts in myelodysplastic syndrome-refractory anemia (MDS-RA) than in normal cells suggesting a role of YB-1 in erythropoiesis (Yokoyama *et al.*, 2003 a, b).

Since the role of YB-1 in normal hematopoietic differentiation has not been elucidated, we examined the expression of YB-1 in the mouse hematopoietic EML cell line and *in vivo* during myelopoiesis. To further investigate its possible role in leukemogenesis, we have determined the expression and function of YB-1 protein in human leukemic cells.

# **Materials and Methods**

#### **Cell Culture**

EML C1 cells were the kind gift of Dr. Schickwann Tsai and were maintained in Iscove's modified Dulbecco medium (IMDM,) supplemented with 20% horse serum (American Type culture collection, ATCC, Manassas, VA) and 10% BHK/MKL-conditioned medium (Tsai *et al.*, 1994). For differentiation studies, EML cells were induced to differentiate into myeloid cells with 10 µM all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA (RA); Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA), 10% BHK conditioned medium (source of stem cell factor) and 15% WEHI conditioned medium (source of interleukin-3) for three days. Cells were then cultured again in IMDM/20% horse serum with 20 ng/ml of murine granulocyte-monocyte colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (Stem cell tech. Vancouver, BC, Canada) for the next three days. HL-60 (human promyelocytic leukemia), K-562 (human myelogenous leukemia) (Lozzio and Lozzio 1975); U-937 (human promonocytic leukemia), WEHI-3 (murine monocytic leukemia) cells were purchased from the ATCC and cultured according to their guidelines.

#### **Mouse strains**

C57BL/6J mice were bred and maintained at the AAALAC accredited animal care facility at Marshall University in accordance with the university guidelines. Donor mice used



for bone marrow isolation were 8-10 months of age. Mice were sacrificed for these experiments according to institutional guidelines.

# Flow cytometry studies

Stable clones with YB-1 shRNA in K562 cells: Sh6-, Sh7-, Sh8- were seeded at a density of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml in a six-well plate and treated with  $0.5 \mu$ M As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3 for</sub> 72 hours. Treated as well as untreated EML and K562 cells were washed twice with FACS buffer (Phosphate buffered saline, PBS supplemented with 3% BSA, 0.02% sodium azide and 1mM EDTA) and collected by centrifugation. Thereafter they were incubated with FcγRII/III antibody (553142, BD Pharmingen) to prevent nonspecific binding by blocking the Fc receptors for half an hour at 4°C. For EML cells the cells were washed again and labeled with PE conjugated anti-Sca-1 (clone D7, 553108), PE conjugated anti-c-Kit (clone 2B8, 553355), biotinylated anti-CD11b (clone M1/70, 553309, BD Biosciences) or PE conjugated anti-F4/80 (clone BM8, MF48004, Caltag) for 30 minutes on ice. After washing the EML cells biotinylated anti-CD11b antibody was labeled with strepavidin APC (SA1005, Molecular probes). K562 cells were washed and labeled with APC conjugated mouse anti-human CD41a antibody (clone HIP8, 559777, BD biosciences) for 30 minutes on ice. Data acquisition was performed using BD FACS Aria sorter and data analysis was done using Flow Jo software v.7.5.5 (Treestar, Ashland, OR).

# Cell staining and sorting

Bone marrow (BM) was harvested from C57BL/6J donor mice by flushing both femur and tibia with PBS/2% FBS. Heart punctures were performed to isolate serum from the mice. Cells were washed with 1X PBS by centrifugation and resuspended in PBS/2%FBS buffer followed by the addition of 10% mouse serum at 4°C for half an hour to block the Fc receptors to prevent any nonspecific binding. For isolation of HSC and progenitor cells, 2.5X10<sup>7</sup> bone marrow cells were incubated for half an hour on ice with 100 µl of each of the following



biotinylated lineage specific antibodies to identify terminally differentiated cell types: CD3e (clone 145-2C11), CD11b (clone M1/70), B220 (clone RA3-6B2), Gr-1 (clone RB6-8C5), TER-119 (anti-erythrocyte specific antigen), IL-7R $\alpha$  chain (clone B12-1) (Lineage panel; 559971, Becton Dickenson-Pharmingen). Cells were labeled with PECy7 conjugated anti-Sca-1 (clone D7, 25-5981) and APCCy7 conjugated anti-c-Kit (clone 2B8, 25-1171; eBioscience, San Diego, CA) monoclonal antibodies. After washing with PBS/2% FBS the cell suspension was incubated with strepavidin pacific blue conjugate (Molecular probes, Invitrogen) for 30 minutes on ice. Murine hematopoietic stem cells (lineage<sup>-</sup>/IL-7R<sup>-</sup>/c-kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca1<sup>+</sup>) and myeloid progenitors (lineage<sup>-</sup>/IL-7R<sup>-</sup>/c-kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca1<sup>-</sup>) were sorted from bone marrow, as described previously (Akashi *et al.*, 2000). For the isolation of granulocytes, bone marrow cells were stained with biotinylated Gr-1 and visualized by a strepavidin pacific blue conjugate. All cell populations were sorted using BD FACS Aria multicolor cell sorter and data analysis was done using DIVA and Flow Jo software (Treestar, Ashland, OR). A second round of sorting was performed to ensure pure populations. RNA was isolated from multiple independently isolated samples containing normal HSC, myeloid progenitors and granulocytes.

# **RNA extraction and quantitative RT-PCR**

RNA was isolated from double sorted HSC & progenitor cells obtained from mouse bone marrow or from EML cells using an RNeasy kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). cDNA was synthesized by using the Advantage RT-for-PCR kit® according to the manufacturer's guidelines (Clontech, Mountain View, CA). Gene expression analysis designed against mouse YB-1 (catalog no. ABI Mm00850878) was performed using TaqMan Gene Expression Assays on an ABI Prism 7000 sequence detection system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, California, USA). Expression of the β-actin gene (catalog no. ABI, 4352341E) was used to normalize the amount of the investigated transcript. Data were corrected



for efficiency and loading using the Pfaffel method (Tichopad *et al.*, 2003). Data shown are representative of four independent experiments.

# Western blotting

Treated cells from different experimental conditions were rinsed once with ice-cold PBS and then separated into nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions using the NE-PER extraction kit as per the manufacturer's instructions (Pierce, Rockford, IL). Protein concentration was determined using bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay reagents from Pierce according to the manufacturer's guidelines. Cell extracts were then denatured at 95°C for 5 min in 2x sample buffer (62.5 mM Tris HCl (pH 6.8), 25% glycerol, 0.01% bromophenol blue, 2% SDS, 10% βmercaptoethanol). Equal amount of protein extracts were separated on an 8-16% gradient Tris-Glycine SDS-poly acrylamide gel (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) by electrophoresis (PAGE) and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Millipore) using the Bio-Rad MiniProtean3® system. The membranes were treated in blocking solution (5% non fat dry milk in TBS containing 0.1% Tween 20) and incubated with primary YB-1 rabbit polyclonal antibody (1µg/ml, 2749, Cell Signaling Technologies, Danvers, MA) overnight at 4°C, followed by incubation with HRPconjugated monoclonal rabbit secondary IgG antibody (1: 3000, 7074, Cell Signaling). An antimouse GAPDH antibody (MAB374, GE Healthcare, CT) was used to assess equal loading. Proteins were visualized by enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) (GE Healthcare, CT). Benchmark <sup>TM</sup> protein ladder was used to visualize the transfer of protein onto the membrane and MagicMark<sup>TM</sup> XP (Invitrogen) was used as a molecular size standard.

#### Wright-Giemsa staining

EML cells at different stages of myeloid cell differentiation were cytospun onto microscopic slides and stained with Wright-Giemsa stain (Accustain, sigma) and light microscopy images (400x) taken using an Olympus BX51 system microscope attached to a DP70



microscope digital camera. Captured images were analyzed for morphological changes during myeloid differentiation with DP70 software on a Dell optiplex GX280 computer.

#### Transfection of leukemia cells and generation of stable clones

The shRNA expression vector for YB-1 (YB-1-pSUPER with the target sequence GAAGGTCATCGCAACGAAG, shYB-1) for generating YB-1 specific shRNAs and control shRNAs has been described previously (Schittek *et al.*, 2007; Huber *et al.*, 2004). This vector does not have a selectable marker. To generate stable clones, K562 leukemia cells (Lozzio CB, Lozzio BB, 1975) were cotransfected with the YB-1 pSUPER vector and for neomycin selection ; pEGFPN3 vector (Clontech, Saint-Germainen- Laye, France) by electroporation using BTX electroporation system as per manufacturer's instructions (Genetronics, San Diego, CA). K562 cells or pEGFP transfected K562 leukemia (Empty vector, EV) cells served as controls. K562 cells were selected with 800  $\mu$ g/ml G418, 48 hrs after transfection, for 2 weeks, thereafter GFP +ve cells were sorted and recultured in G418 media for another 2 weeks. When stable clones were generated the G418 dose was reduced to half. Three stable clones sh6-, sh7- and sh8- from the YB-1sh/EGFP were confirmed for YB-1 knockdown by western blotting and were further analyzed.

#### **Cell Viability Assay**

Stable clones with YB-1 shRNA in K562 cells: Sh6-, Sh7-, Sh8- were treated with 0.5  $\mu$ M As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (Alfa Aesar, Massachusetts, USA) and cell viability assay was performed at 24, 48, 72 hours using the trypan blue dye exclusion method.

#### Apoptosis assay

Stable clones with YB-1 shRNA in K562 cells: Sh6-, Sh7-, Sh8- were seeded at a



density of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml in a six-well plate and treated with 0.5  $\mu$ M As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> for 72 hours. The cells were harvested and washed with cold PBS and resuspended in the binding buffer (100  $\mu$ l of calcium buffer containing 10 mM HEPES/NaOH, ph7.4, 140 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>) containing 5  $\mu$ l annexin V-pacific blue and 5  $\mu$ l 7 AAD (5  $\mu$ g/ml). The samples were incubated for 30 minutes in the dark at room temperature and then subjected to flow cytometry.

# Morphological evaluation of differentiated cells

Stable clones with YB-1 shRNA in K562 cells: Sh6-, Sh7-, Sh8- were treated with  $0.5\mu$ M As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> for 72 hours and cell morphology was determined by examining light microscopy images (400x) taken using an Olympus BX51 system microscope.

# Cell cycle analysis by flow cytometry

Stable clones with YB-1 shRNA in K562 cells: Sh6-, Sh7-, Sh8- were seeded at a density of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml in a six-well plate and treated with  $0.5 \mu$ M As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> for 72 hours. Cells were harvested and washed twice with PBS, fixed in 70% ethanol overnight at 4°C. Cells were then stained with 5  $\mu$ l (1 mg/ml) propidium iodide (PI) containing 2.5  $\mu$ l (10 mg/ml) RNase for 30 minutes at 37°C and analyzed by flow cytometry on an Accuri C6 flow cytometer.

# Statistics

Statistical analysis of the data was performed using the Student *t* test or ANOVA followed by a Student *t* test with corrections for multiple comparisons using the Bonferroni method as appropriate. The statistical test used for each data set is stated in figure legends; p < 0.05 was considered to be significant. Data are presented as means plus or minus standard error of mean (SEM).



# Results

# EML cells as a model of myeloid differentiation

The EML cell line is a SCF dependent multipotent cell line with myeloid, erythroid and lymphoid potentials. It was established from mouse bone marrow infected with a retroviral vector (LRAR $\alpha$ 403SN) harboring a dominant negative retinoic acid receptor (RAR construct) (Tsai *et al.*, 1994).



Figure 2.1. Morphology of EML cells during RA and GM-CSF induced differentiation. Cytospin preparations of the indicated cells were stained with Wright-Giemsa. (A) Native DMSO treated SCF dependent EML cells. Arrows indicate hand-mirror-shaped cells that are frequently seen in EML cell line. (B) EML cells treated with SCF/IL-3 and 10  $\mu$ M RA for three days. Arrows show the granulocyte-monocyte progenitors (CFU-GM) indicated by the increase in nuclear to cytoplasmic ratio. (C) EML/RA+IL-3 cells treated with GM-CSF for another three days. Magnification is 400x. Arrows show the committed granulocytic/monocytic progenitors with bi-lobed nucleus. Scale bars are 50  $\mu$ m.



It is a suspension cell line consisting of mostly blast like cells with 20-30% hand mirror shaped cells (Figure 2.1A). EML cells serve as an excellent model to study hematopoietic differentiation *in vitro* (Johnson *et al.*, 1999). It can be induced to differentiate towards granulocyte/monocyte progenitors (CFU-GM) by high concentration of RA in the presence of IL-3 (Figure 2.1B). These CFU-GMs can be further differentiated into more committed granulocyte/monocyte progenitors by GM-CSF treatment (Figure 2.1C).

To characterize the differentiation pattern of EML cells with our cytokine treatments, we analyzed cell markers associated with several stages of differentiation. We compared the cell surface marker profile of native, DMSO-treated EML cells, EML cells treated with RA+IL-3 (CFU-GM) for three days, and EML cells treated for an additional 3 days with GM-CSF after the RA+IL-3 treatment. Flow cytometry analysis was performed using the following panel of antibodies: (1) anti-Sca-1, which is specific for stem cells, (2) anti-c-kit specific for stem/progenitors, (3) anti-CD-11b specific for macrophage/neutrophil lineages, and (4) anti-F4/80 specific for macrophages (Figure 2.2). The parental EML cells appear relatively undifferentiated (Figure 2.2A) and display an immature surface antigen phenotype that is characterized by high Sca-1+ and c-kit+ (Figure 2.2 A, B) expression and absence of CD11b and F4/80 (Figure 2.2 C, D). In contrast, the EML/GM-CSF cells appear more differentiated (Figure 2.2 C) and display cell surface markers indicative of differentiated cells (CD11b+, F4/80+) with a loss of stem/progenitor markers such as Sca-1 and c-kit. Sca-1 expression in GMCSF treated EML cells was >90% reduced (p < 0.01) while CD11b (p < 0.01) and F4/80 (p < 0.01) showed >95% & 59% increase respectively as compared to the untreated EML cells (Figure 2.2 E). This data indicates that EML cells express stem and primitive progenitor markers. When these cells are subjected to conditions that induced myeloid progenitors (CFU-GM), there is an increase in the expression of granulocyte/monocyte specific markers, which becomes more predominant with the appearance of more committed granulocyte/monocyte



progenitors.



**Figure 2.2.** Cell surface marker profile of Untreated, RA and GM-CSF treated EML cells. EML cells were induced to undergo myeloid differentiation in the presence of SCF, IL-3 and RA for three days followed by GM-CSF for three days as described in materials and methods. Samples were collected at day 3 and day 6 for RA & GM-CSF treated EML cells respectively. Expression of (A) Sca-1, (B) c-kit which label primitive stem/progenitor cell types and (C) CD11b, (D) F4/80 specific for granulocytes and macrophages in DMSO treated (black line), RA (grey dashed line) and GM-CSF ( solid grey line) treated EML cells. (E) Combined flow cytometric analysis of DMSO treated, RA+IL-3, and GM-CSF treated EML cells in terms of % positive cells for each surface antigen. Data is expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate values. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) for multiple pairwise comparisons was used to analyze the data along with Student t test comparing each to untreated EML cells. (\* indicate  $p \le 0.01$ ).



# YB-1 expression in undifferentiated vs. differentiated EML cells

YB-1 functions in erythroid differentiation and aberrant expression of YB-1 leads to abnormal erythropoiesis but its role and regulation of gene expression in early hematopoiesis is still unknown (Yokoyama *et al.*, 2003). In order to characterize its pattern of expression in early hematopoiesis, YB-1 protein expression was studied by western blot analysis in DMSO-treated, RA+ interleukin-3 (IL-3) treated and GM-CSF treated EML cells (Figure 2.3). YB-1 was detected as 49 kD protein in nuclear extracts. YB-1 protein was highly expressed in native EML cells relative to RA+IL-3 and GM-CSF treated cells (Figure 2.3A, B). RA+IL-3 treated EML cells (myeloid progenitors) showed a significant decrease (>60%; p<0.05) in YB-1 protein expression compared to the DMSO treated EML cells. This reduction was even more apparent in the GM-CSF treated (>80%; p<0.05) compared to the DMSO treated EML cells.

In order to determine if YB-1 protein levels correlate with the mRNA, we analyzed YB-1 mRNA expression in the above three cell populations by quantitative RT-PCR (Figure 2.3 C). YB-1 mRNA levels were down-regulated in RA+IL-3 treated relative to the DMSO treated EML cells and reduced further significantly with GM-CSF treatment (p<0.05). These data show that YB-1 mRNA and protein expression pattern correlate and are highly expressed in native undifferentiated EML cells but both levels are dramatically down-regulated during EML cell differentiation. Taken together, this data indicates that YB-1 is expressed in undifferentiated stem cells and reduces as these cells progress into early and later stage progenitors. The functional role of YB-1 expression is not known.





**Figure 2.3. Expression of YB-1 mRNA and protein in EML cells.** (A) Nuclear extracts from DMSO treated, RA and GM-CSF treated EML cells were subjected to SDS- PAGE and western blot analysis with an anti-YB-1 antibody (1µg/ml). GAPDH was used as a loading control. (B) The mean  $\pm$  SEM of values obtained from densitometric analysis of three individual experiments. ANOVA for multiple pairwise comparisons was used to analyze the data along with Student's t-test comparing each to untreated EML cells (\* indicate p < 0.05). This blot is representative of at least 3 different experiments, all of which gave similar results (N=9). (C) Total RNA was extracted from untreated, RA and GM-CSF treated EML cells by RNeasy kit and was reverse transcribed using Advantage RT-for-PCR kit®. Real-Time PCR analysis was performed using TaqMan probes directed at YB-1 and  $\beta$ -actin. Data was analyzed with ANOVA and is expressed as fold change, corrected for  $\beta$ -actin, relative to untreated EML cells (\* indicate p < 0.05). Data is representative of experiments (N=6).



# Expression of YB-1 in mouse stem and progenitor cells

Though the EML cell culture system has proved useful in identifying changes in YB-1 gene expression during hematopoietic differentiation, it is an immortalized cell line and thus may not accurately represent normal hematopoietic cells (Ye *et al.*, 2005). To compare changes in YB-1 gene expression observed in EML cells with normal hematopoiesis, we sorted stem cells, myeloid progenitors, and granulocytes from C57BL/6 mouse BM. In mice, multipotent hematopoietic activity resides in a small fraction of BM cells lacking the expression of lineageassociated surface markers but expressing high levels of Sca-1 and c-Kit (LKS fraction). Within the lineage BM cells myeloid progenitors can be isolated from the IL-7R $\alpha$  fraction by the absence of Sca-1 expression, but the presence of c-Kit . Based on Sca-1 and c-kit profile of lineage<sup>-</sup>/IL-7R<sup>-</sup>bone marrow cells, a population enriched in HSC was sorted according to lineage<sup>-</sup>/IL-7R<sup>-</sup>/c-kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca1<sup>+</sup> (LKS) marker profile while myeloid progenitors were separated based on lineage<sup>-</sup>/IL-7R<sup>-</sup>/c-kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca1<sup>-</sup> profile (Figure 2.4A-C). Granulocytes were isolated from mouse BM by staining with anti Gr-1 antibody as shown in Figure 2.4D and E. In these three populations, YB-1 mRNA levels were measured by quantitative RT-PCR (Figure 2.4F). There was a significant two-fold increase in YB-1 mRNA levels in myeloid progenitors (p < 0.05) as compared to the LKS fraction (enriched fraction for stem cells). More noteworthy is the statistically significant reduction in YB-1 mRNA levels in granulocytes which is reduced by more than 87% as compared to the stem/progenitor cells (p < 0.01). These data indicate that YB-1 transcripts are highly expressed in stem/myeloid progenitors and down-regulated in more differentiated cell types like granulocytes. These results are consistent with the *in vitro* data, reinforcing the validity of the EML cell model and suggesting an in vivo role for YB-1 in hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells.



www.manaraa.com



Figure 2.4. Expression of YB-1 in mouse stem and progenitor cells. (A) BM cells from adult mice were isolated by flow cytometry. Cells of the appropriate side scatter and forward scatter properties (R1) gate were further fractionated by (B) IL-7R $\alpha$  and lineage panel depletion represented by gate R2. (C) Those remaining were selected based upon c-kit and Sca-1 expression as indicated. The lineage<sup>-</sup>/IL-7R<sup>-</sup>/c-kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca1<sup>+</sup> (LKS, enriched fraction for stem cells) shown as R4 and lineage<sup>-</sup>/IL-7R<sup>-</sup>/c-kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca1<sup>-</sup> (myeloid progenitors, R3) fractions were then sorted for quantitative RT-PCR. (D-E) Granulocytes were sorted from the mouse BM by forward/side scatter characteristics (S1) and labeling with anti-Gr-1 antibody (S2). (F) Total RNA was extracted from lineage<sup>-</sup>/IL-7R<sup>-</sup>/c-kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca1<sup>+</sup> (LKS), lineage<sup>-</sup>/IL-7R<sup>-</sup>/c-kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca1<sup>-</sup> (myeloid progenitors), and Gr-1<sup>+</sup> populations followed by real-time RT-PCR was performed using TaqMan probes directed at YB-1 and  $\beta$ -actin. The relative amount of mRNA in each cell population was normalized to an internal control gene  $\beta$ -actin and expressed as fold change relative to stem cells. The statistical significance of YB-1 expression was assessed by ANOVA combined with the student's t-test (\* indicate comparisons to stem cell levels, ^ indicate comparisons to progenitor cell levels,  $p \le 0.01$ ). Data is representative of four independent experiments (N=12).



#### **YB-1** expression in leukemic cells

YB-1 is involved in erythropoiesis and aberrant YB-1 expression may lead to abnormalities in erythroid differentiation (Yokoyama *et al.*, 2003). MDS is characterized by ineffective production of mature blood cells due to increased proliferation and reduced differentiation of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells, with a high predisposition to transform into acute leukemia (Greenberg *et al.*, 1997).



**Figure 2.5. YB-1 expression in leukemia** (A) Western blot analysis was performed on the nuclear extracts from HL-60 (human promyelocytic leukemia), U-937 (human promonocytic leukemia), K-562 (human chronic myelogenous leukemia), WEHI-3 (murine monocytic leukemia) cell lines using anti YB-1 antibody. Untreated, RA and GMCSF treated EML cells served as positive and negative controls. GAPDH was used as a loading control. (B) Densitometric analysis of the above western blot. This data is one representative of three independent experiments all giving similar results.

YB-1 has been shown to be up-regulated in the bone marrow of patients with MDS

(Lee et al., 2001; Yokoyama et al., 2003). Since we saw a high expression of YB-1 in



stem/progenitor cells as compared to differentiated cells, we investigated whether higher expression of YB-1 is associated with leukemia. For this we performed western blot analysis on protein extracted from several human and mouse leukemic cell lines (Fig. 2.5 A, B). DMSO treated, RA+IL-3, and GMCSF treated EML cells served as references for these experiments. HL-60 (human promyelocytic leukemia), U-937 (human promonocytic leukemia), K-562 (human chronic myelogenous leukemia), WEHI-3 (murine monocytic leukemia) cell lines arrested at progenitor stage of myeloid differentiation expressed YB-1 at different levels. As native EML cells are more like stem/early progenitor cells, they express high levels of YB-1 protein as compared to the more committed myeloid progenitors. YB-1 expression levels in all the leukemic cell lines lie between stem and early myeloid progenitor state except the K-562 cell line, in which the expression is even higher than the EML cells. This data indicates that YB-1 is highly expressed in myelogenous leukemias.

# Biological significance of down-regulation of YB-1 expression on cell proliferation apoptosis and differentiation in K562 leukemic cells

To determine the role of YB-1 in leukemic cells, we downregulated YB-1 in K562 cell line (Lozzio and Lozzio, 1975), using specific shRNA and studied the effects of low YB-1 levels on cell proliferation and apoptosis. Three stable clones sh6-, sh7-, sh8- were selected and down-regulation of YB-1 was confirmed by western blotting. Approximately a 40% reduction in YB-1 expression was achieved compared to EGFP transfected K562 cells, empty vector (EV) (Figure 2.6A).YB-1 down-regulation itself resulted in reduction in cell viability in sh6-, sh7-, and sh8- K562 relative to the normal K562 cells and EV at 72 hours. There was a statistically significant reduction in cell proliferation in sh6- (68%), sh7- (66%) & sh8- (66%) after treatment with 0.5  $\mu$ M As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> relative to the untreated K562 cells (*p*<0.01) (Figure 2.6B).





Figure 2.6. Effects of down-regulation of YB-1 expression on cell proliferation and apoptosis in K562 leukemic cells. K562 leukemic cells were co-transfected with a plasmid containing YB-1 shRNA and pEGFP. pEGFP was used as a selectable marker to establish stable clones. (A) Three clones sh6-, sh7- & sh8- were selected and down-regulation of YB-1 was confirmed by western blot using anti-YB-1 antibody (1µg/ml). GAPDH was used as loading control. Approximately 40% reduction in YB-1 expression was achieved in each of these clones. (N=3) (B) Sh6-, sh7-, & sh8- transfected K562 cells were treated with 0.5µM As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> for 72 hours and cell viability assay was done at 24, 48 &72 hours as described in methods (\* indicate  $p \le 0.01$ ). (C) Apoptotic analysis was done in K562 cells after 72 hr of treatment with or without 0.5µM As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>. These cells were labeled with annexin V pacific blue and 7-AAD and then subjected to flow cytometric analysis. Untransfected K562 cells and EV served as controls (\* indicate  $p \le 0.01$ ). Data is expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate samples. Data is representative of at least two independent experiments. ANOVA for multiple pairwise comparisons was used to analyze the data along with Student t test comparing each to untreated cells.



A higher number of apoptotic cells were detected in sh6-, sh7-, sh8-K562 compared to the normal K562 cells and EV at 72 hours. A statistically significant increase in the number of annexin-V positive cells was seen in sh6- (61%), sh7- (57%) after treatment with 0.5  $\mu$ M As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> for 72 hours (*p*<0.01) (Figure 2.6C). These data indicate that loss of YB-1 reduce cell viability in leukemic cells, and confers some protection from apoptosis in these cells.

YB-1 down-regulation leads to the induction of megakaryocytic differentiation in sh6-, sh7-, and sh8- in comparison to the normal K562 cells and EV at 72 hours after treatment with 0.5  $\mu$ M As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>. Phase contrast microscopic examination of As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> treated sh6- sh7-, and sh8-K562 cells revealed an increase in the nuclear to cytoplasm ratio, and an elongated shape characteristic of megakaryocytic morphology (Figure 2.7A). To confirm the megakaryocytic differentiation in sh6-, sh7-, and sh8-K562 cells, CD41a (GPIIb/IIIa) expression, a marker for platelet/megakaryocytes, was measured. Interestingly YB-1 down-regulation alone resulted in an increase in CD41a expression. Further increase in CD41a expression was observed after 72 hours of treatment with 0.5  $\mu$ M As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> (Figure 2.7B). Polyploidization is a unique feature of megakaryocytes (Szalai *et al.*, 2006). To further confirm megakaryocytic differentiation, DNA content was measured by PI staining. Ploidy analysis revealed a significant increase in the 4 and 8N population of cells 72 hours after treatment with 0.5  $\mu$ M As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> in sh6-, sh7-, and sh8- in comparison to the normal K562 cells and EV (Figure 2.7C). From this data it is evident that down-regulation of YB-1 primes the sh6-, sh7-, and sh8-K562 cells for megakaryocytic differentiation for HB-1 primes the sh6-, sh7-, and sh8-K562 cells for megakaryocytic differentiation for the treatment with 0.5  $\mu$ M As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>.





Figure 2.7. Effects of down-regulation of YB-1 expression on cell differentiation in K562 leukemic cells (A) Morphological changes in K562 cells at 72 hrs with or without treatment of  $0.5\mu$ M As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>. Arrows indicate megakaryocytic cells. Magnification is 400x. Scale bars are 50 $\mu$ m. (B) K562 cells were treated with or without  $0.5\mu$ M As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> for 72 hrs and CD41a expression which labels platelets and megakaryocytes was measured (\* indicate  $p \le 0.01$ ). Data are expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM of triplicate samples and is representative of at least two independent experiments. ANOVA for multiple pairwise comparisons was used to analyze the data along with Student t test comparing each to untreated cells (C) K562 cells were treated with or without 0.5  $\mu$ M As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> for 72 hrs and DNA content of cells was assayed by staining with propidium iodide (PI) and then analyzed by flow cytometry. Data is representative of at least two independent experiments. EV indicates empty vector.



# Discussion

Y box binding protein is a multifunctional protein and is involved in regulating both transcription and translation. YB-1 promotes cell proliferation through transactivation of target genes such as proliferating cell nuclear antigen, epidermal growth factor receptor, DNA topoisomerase II, thymidine kinase and DNA polymerase  $\alpha$  (Wolfe, 1994; Ladomery and Sommerville, 1995). It has also been implicated in cell cycle regulation, cell survival, stress response regulation, DNA repair, and drug resistance (Lu *et al.*, 2005; Kohno *et al.*, 2003).

YB-1 has been shown to be involved in erythroid development through interactions with GATA (Yokoyama *et al.*, 2003); however the role of YB-1 in early hematopoietic differentiation has not been investigated. For the first time, we show in this study that YB-1 is expressed in early hematopoiesis and both YB-1 mRNA and protein levels are down-regulated during myeloid differentiation. EML cells undergoing myeloid differentiation down-regulate YB-1 expression after three days of culture in RA+IL-3. YB-1 expression is further down-regulated at six days when these myeloid progenitors are cultured in GM-CSF with the appearance of an increasing number of more committed granulocyte and monocyte progenitors. A previous cDNA microarray study that analyzed changes in gene expression during induced myeloid differentiation of EML cells showed similar results (Ma *et al.*, 2002). This indicates that YB-1 is highly expressed during hematopoiesis in multipotent hematopoietic precursor EML cells but is down-regulated in more committed granulocyte/monocyte progenitors.

We have observed greater reduction in the YB-1 protein expression as compared to the YB-1 mRNA in both RA/IL-3 and GM-CSF treated EML cells relative to the DMSO treated EML cells. YB-1 has been shown to regulate gene expression not only at the level of transcription, but also at the level of mRNA translation (Fukuda *et al.*, 2004). Therefore, lower levels of YB-1 protein expression as compared to YB-1 mRNA might be due to autoregulation of YB-1 translation by YB-1 mRNA. Another possibility could be that RA+IL-3 and GM-CSF



treatment might lead to post-translation regulation of YB-1 (Wu *et al.*, 2007). YB-1 can shuttle between the cytosol and nucleus (Jurchott *et al.*, 2003) and can also be localized to the mitochondria (de Souza-Pinto *et al.*, 2009). However, we have examined only nuclear expression of the YB-1. Thus, a cytoplasmic fraction of YB-1 might account for the lack of correlation between the YB-1 protein and RNA levels.

Since we found a dramatic down-regulation of YB-1 expression in EML cells during myeloid differentiation, we investigated YB-1 expression *in vivo*. HSCs and progenitors were isolated based upon the parameters lineage<sup>-</sup>/IL-7R<sup>-</sup>/c-kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca1<sup>+</sup> (which is an enriched fraction for HSC), lineage<sup>-</sup>/IL-7R<sup>-</sup>/c-kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca1<sup>-</sup> (myeloid progenitors). Like EML cells, we found high expression of YB-1 mRNA levels in the stem/progenitor cells of mouse BM as compared to the differentiated cells like granulocytes. YB-1 has a role in cell proliferation and is known to repress transcription of genes involved in differentiation (GM-CSF) and apoptosis (Fas) so one possible explanation for YB-1 to be down-regulated in granulocytes is to allow the expression of differentiation factors (Coles *et al.*, 1996; Lasham *et al.*, 2000). A gene expression study of mouse transcriptome agrees with this data as similar results have been shown in mouse BM for YB-1 expression (http://biogps.gnf.org). Taken together, the EML cell studies and primary bone marrow studies share consistent results and thus provide strong evidence that YB-1 is highly expressed in stem/ early progenitor cells and is down-regulated during granulocyte/monocyte lineage differentiation.

Our data revealed a significant reduction in the YB-1 expression in EML cells upon treatment with RA/IL-3, while we saw an increase in the YB-1 mRNA expression in myeloid progenitors as compared to the HSC in mouse BM. This difference could be attributed to the fact that the *in vitro* model involves using relatively high pharmacological concentrations of retinoic acid (10  $\mu$ M) about 100–1000-fold higher than the endogenous physiological concentration of retinoids (1–10 nM) normally present in serum which could lead to off target



effects (Collins, 2002). Moreover, we have differentiated EML cells towards only CFU-GM, which generates granulocyte monocyte progenitors (GMP) while in the mouse BM we have assayed all the myeloid progenitors as one group including common myeloid progenitor (CMP), GMP and megakaryocyte erythroid progenitor (MEP). Possibly, YB-1 expression goes down in the GMPs, but not in the CMP and MEP.

YB-1 has been shown to be up-regulated in the bone marrow of patients with MDS (Lee *et al.*, 2001; Yokoyama *et al.*, 2003). Over-expression of YB-1 mRNA and protein is associated with several human cancers including breast, prostate, pancreas, colorectal and melanoma (Kohno *et al.*, 2003), but its role in leukemia has not yet been investigated. Therefore, cell lines derived from patients with HL-60 (acute promyelocytic leukemia), U-937 (acute promonocytic leukemia), K562, chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) and WEHI-3 (murine monocytic leukemia), which are arrested at various stages of myeloid differentiation, were used to analyze the expression of YB-1 protein. YB-1 protein was expressed by all the myeloid leukemic cell lines, indicating that YB-1 is associated with myelogenous leukemia. Additionally, it is intriguing that YB-1 was up-regulated in mouse progenitor cells as compared to mouse HSCs. This finding is consistent with the hypothesis of the progenitor being the cell of origin for some leukemias (Jamieson *et al.*, 2004).

To determine the role of YB-1 in leukemia we investigated the biological consequences of YB-1 knockdown in K562 leukemia cells. This cell line was chosen due to high expression of YB-1. We treated cells with  $As_2O_3$  because it is being used as a therapeutic agent for the treatment of acute promyelocytic leukemia. The concentration of  $As_2O_3$  used was 0.5  $\mu$ M, which is within the known plasma concentration in patients under treatment and does affect cell viability (Tang *et al.*, 1997). YB-1 down-regulation resulted in growth arrest and induction of apoptosis. Upon treatment with  $As_2O_3$  these effects were more pronounced. YB-1 promotes cell proliferation by transactivating various genes involved in cell division and also by controlling



cyclin A and B1 gene expression (Wolfe, 1994; Ladomery and Sommerville, 1995; Jurchott *et al.*, 2003). A few studies have reported biological effects of YB-1 (Schittek *et al.*, 2007; Chatterjee *et al.*, 2008). In the multidrug resistant cell line, K562/A02 YB-1 down-regulation leads to decreased cell proliferation and induction of apoptosis. These results are consistent with our findings in untreated K562 cells (Xu *et al.*, 2009).

K562 is an erythroleukemia cell line that is situated in the common progenitor stage of megakaryocytic and erythroid lineages of hematopoietic cell differentiation. K562 cells can be induced to erythroid or megakaryocytic differentiation by different agents (Baliga et al., 1993; Tabilio and Pelicei, 1983). As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> exerts double effects on acute promyelocytic cells, i.e., induction of apoptosis and partial differentiation (Tang et al., 1997). Interestingly, downregulation of YB-1 and treatment with As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> led to megakaryocytic cell differentiation in K562 leukemia cells, further strengthenig our observation that YB-1 is associated with stem/progenitor cell maintenance. We saw a significant change in cellular morphology after 72 hr treatment of K562 leukemic cells with As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>; evident by an increase in nuclear size and cytoplasmic mass. YB-1 knockdown alone resulted in an increase in CD41a, a cell surface marker associated with megakaryocytic differentiation expression. However, we did not see any large change in cellular morphology. After treatment with  $As_2O_3$ , there was a steep, statistically significant increase in the expression of CD41a when YB-1 was downregulated in sh6-, sh7- and sh8- K562 cells. Further confirmation of megakaryocytic differentiation was our detection of polyploidy in K562 cells when YB-1 was downregulated (Vitrat et al., 1998). The ability of K562 cells to partially differentiate upon YB-1 knockdown supplemented with  $As_2O_3$ treatment is a novel finding.

In conclusion, our data reveals that YB-1 is highly expressed in the EML cell line but is down-regulated upon differentiation of these cells towards the myeloid lineage. Terminally differentiated cells, such as granulocytes, express low levels of YB-1 as compared to murine



BM stem and progenitor cells. Expression of YB-1 in several myeloid leukemia cell lines indicates its association with leukemia. Down-regulation of YB-1 expression reduced cell proliferation, induced apoptosis and cell differentiation. Further studies are needed to decipher the mechanism of how YB-1 contributes to the blockage of myeloid differentiation.

Conflict of Interest Disclosure: The authors declare no competing financial interests.

Acknowledgements: We thank Dr. Schickwann Tsai for the generous gift of the EML cell line used in this study. We also thank Dr. Thomas Iftner and Dr. Johanna Schuetz for donating pSUPER YB-1 shRNA and pSUPER EV (Institute for Medical Virology and Epidemiology of Viral Diseases, University Hospital Tuebingen, Tuebingen, Germany). We gratefully acknowledge the advice and constructive discussion of Dr. Sandeep Joshi. This work was supported in part by NIH NCRR COBRE (5P20RR020180) and WV-INBRE (5P20RR016477) grants which support the Marshall University Genomics Core Facility and the Marshall University Flow Cytometry Core Facility. This work was also supported by the NIH/NCI by R03CA129790.



In leukemia there is uncontrolled proliferation of immature progenitors and blockage to their differentiation.Understanding the mechanisms involved in hematopoietic differentiation will help in developing therapies against leukemia. Our major focus of this work was to identify different genes that play role in hematopoietic differentiation. Hsp90 is a molecular chaperone that is involved with protein folding and various signal transduction cascades. Hsp90 has been suggested to regulate Wnt signaling in the *Drosophila* model. Wnt signaling is associated with hematopoietic stem cell maintainenace and is important for leukemia progression. In chapter 3, we investigated the role of Hsp90 in the regulation of Wnt signaling in mammalian hematopoietic system.


# CHAPTER Three: Activation of the canonical Wnt pathway in the hematopoietic precursor EML cell line upon Hsp90 inhibition

# Abstract

Acute myeloid leukemia (AML) in adults has a 20% 5-year disease-free survival, despite treatment with aggressive cytotoxic chemotherapy. Heat shock protein (Hsp90) is a chaperone for several client proteins involved in transcriptional regulation, signal transduction and cell cycle control. 17-AAG, the synthetic analogue of geldanamycin (GA), is an Hsp90 inhibitor that is presently in phase II clinical trials for the treatment of various leukemia and other cancers. In Drosophila, functional inactivation of Hsp90 resulted in a transdifferentiation event where the eye tissue becomes a limb-like outgrowth due to abnormal wingless expression (wg). Expression of this phenotype induced by Hsp90 inhibition becomes independent of chaperone after being inherited across successive generations, suggesting an epigenetic mechanism. Wnt signaling is associated with hematopoietic stem cell maintenance and is important for leukemia progression. The objective of the study in chapter 3 was to determine whether the Wnt pathway is regulated by Hsp90 in mammalian cells through epigenetic mechanisms as observed in flies. Our preliminary data showed the activation of the canonical Wnt pathway in a hematopoietic precursor cell line, EML, after inhibition of Hsp90. This effect seemed to be short lived and pharmacological inactivation of Hsp90 did not cause any changes in the Wnt pathway activity during myeloid differentiation of EML cells. However there was considerable variability in our results that prevented further progress in these studies. Further investigation into the molecular mechanism of Hsp90 inhibition and Wnt signaling in adult hematopoietic stem cells is needed to determine whether Hsp90 play a role in maintaining the leukemic state in AML.



# Introduction

Hsp90 is a specialized molecular chaperone involved in the stress response and in normal homoeostatic control mechanisms. Several client proteins including transcription factors and protein kinases are Hsp90 substrates, where it facilitates their stabilization and activation. Inhibition of Hsp90 leads to disruption of various signal transduction pathways in the cell. Hsp90 inhibitors such as geldanamycin act by interacting specifically with a single molecular target, the Hsp90 chaperone, thereby destabilizing and degrading Hsp90 client proteins (Pearl *et al.*, 2008).

Although Hsp90 is expressed in normal cells, it is frequently overexpressed in cancer cells, suggesting a role in maintaining malignant transformation. Hsp90 has been implicated in oncogenesis by associating with multiple mutated, chimeric and over expressed signaling proteins that promote cancer cell growth and survival (Pearl *et al.*, 2008). Several studies have shown that Hsp90 inhibitors target tumor cells over normal cells because of higher binding affinity of the Hsp90 complexes present in these tumor cells (Chen *et al.*, 2010; Flandrin *et al.*, 2008). Thus targeting Hsp90 could result in simultaneous disruption of multiple oncogenic signal transduction pathways suggesting utility for treatment of advanced cancers.

According to Waddington's canalization model there are masked phenotypes in a wildtype population which can be expressed during environment stress. When these adaptive phenotypes are selected over subsequent generations they get fixed and can be expressed even in the absence of stress (Waddington, 1942). Under stressful conditions Hsp90 deviates from its usual role of activating signal transduction proteins and severe stress can temporarily overwhelm the Hsp90 chaperone system. This leads to generation of varied phenotypes, which when selected, can be fixed in the population and are significant in terms of evolution (Wong and Houry, 2006). Impairment of Hsp83, the *Drosophila* homolog of Hsp90 produced abnormal phenotypes which are inherited in subsequent generations (Rutherford *et al.*, 1998). Thus



Hsp90 can act as genetic capacitor by storing masked phenotypes for later release.

This impairment of Hsp90 either by genetic mutation or pharmacological inhibition in *Drosophila* led to phenotypic variation was also reported by another study. However, an epigenetic basis for the capacitor function of Hsp90 was revealed, as depletion of Hsp90 induced an altered chromatin state. Progeny of flies which were fed Hsp90 inhibitor, geldanamycin (GA) and a mutation in the trithorax group of genes (TrxG) showed an abnormal eye-bristle phenotype. Interestingly, phenotypic selection of this drug-induced phenotype resulted in an increase in the number of affected progeny in successive generations even in the absence of Hsp90 inhibition indicating, an epigenetic mechanism. Further evidence for an epigenetic phenomenon came from chromatin remodeling inhibitors, which were able to reverse this phenotype (Sollars *et al.*, 2003).

Moreover, it was found that this abnormal eye phenotype induced by Hsp 83 and TrxG mutations was due to ectopic expression of Wingless (wg) (Sollars *et al.*, 2003). Wingless is required for many developmental processes ranging from embryonic segmentation to limb development. Since mutations in TrxG genes induced up-regulation of the Wnt pathway, this indicates a role of epigenetic gene regulation in this pathway.

The Wnt signaling pathway is highly conserved during evolution and regulates hematopoietic stem cell maintenance and self renewal (Kirsttetter *et al.*, 2006). Its dysregulation is responsible for various hematological malignancies including leukemia. The canonical Wnt pathway regulates target gene expression via the stabilization and nuclear translocation of the cytoplasmic pool of β-catenin (Brembeck *et al.*, 2003). The focus of this study was to find out whether Hsp90 modulation can regulate the Wnt pathway epigenetically in a mammalian model system.



62

Hematopoiesis is an excellent model to study differentiation due to the presence of different cell surface markers along the course of development. The Erythroid Myeloid Lymphoid clone 1 (EML) cell line was developed from murine bone marrow cells transfected with a vector expressing a dominant negative form of retinoic acid receptor. These cells are a unique *in vitro* model to study hematopoietic differentiation. EML cells can be indefinitely propagated in medium containing stem cell factor (SCF) and can be differentiated into erythoid, myeloid and lymphoid lineages by the addition of appropriate cytokines (Tsai *et al.*, 1994).

Our hypothesis was that Hsp90 acts as an epigenetic modulator affecting the Wnt pathway in the EML cell model. To test this hypothesis, EML cells were treated with GA and Wnt pathway activation was examined based upon β-catenin accumulation and translocation to the nucleus.

# **Materials and Methods**

## Materials

Geldanamycin, GA (G3381) and retinoic acid (R2625) were purchased from Sigma. FITC conjugated total β-catenin (610155) and Fc Blocker (553142) antibodies were purchased from BD Biosciences while active β-catenin (05-665) was purchased from Millipore. Paraformaldehyde (15014601) and Triton X-100 (02300221) were bought from MP Biomedicals. GM-CSF was purchased from Stem Cell technologies (Vancouver, BC).

# **Cell culture**

EML C1 cells were the kind gift of Dr. Schickwann Tsai and were maintained in growth medium which is base medium (IMDM supplemented with 20% heat inactivated horse serum, American Type Culture Collection, ATCC, Manassas, VA) and 10% BHK/MKL-conditioned



medium, (Tsai *et al.*, 1994). EML cells were maintained at a density below  $5 \times 10^5$  cells/ml for these experiments. BHK cells were cultured in EMEM and WEHI-3 cells (TIB-68, ATCC) were cultured in IMDM supplemented with 10% FBS at 37° C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. L Cells (immortalized mouse fibroblast) were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (ATCC, CRL-2648). L-Wnt 3a cells, the Wnt 3a expressing clone of L cells and L-Wnt 5a, the Wnt 5a expressing clone of L cells (ATCC, CRL-2647 and 2814), were maintained in the same medium containing 0.5 mg/ml of G418.

# EML cell differentiation

EML cells were seeded at a density of  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml in base medium along with  $10 \mu$ M all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA; sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA), 10% BHK conditioned medium (source of stem cell factor) and 15% WEHI conditioned medium (source of interleukin-3) for three days. Cells were then washed twice with PBS and resuspended at  $1 \times 10^6$  cells/ml in base medium with 20 ng/ml of murine granulocyte-monocyte colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (Stem Cell Technologies, Vancouver, BC, Canada) for the next three days.

# Treatment with Geldanamycin (GA)

EML cells were seeded at  $2x10^5$  cells/ml in growth medium and treated with 5, 10 or 15 nM GA for 24 hours. DMSO was used as a vehicle. Cells were washed and reseeded at  $2x10^5$  cells/ml in growth medium after 24 hours of treatment followed by a 24 hour recovery period. All the experiments were performed after the 24 hour recovery period.

# Flow Cytometry

Treated as well as untreated L, L-Wnt3a, L-Wnt 5a and EML cells were washed twice with FACS buffer (Phosphate buffered saline, (PBS) supplemented with 3% BSA, 0.02% sodium azide and 1 mM EDTA) and collected by centrifugation. Thereafter they were incubated with



FcγRII/III receptor (553142, BD Pharmingen) to prevent nonspecific binding by blocking the Fc receptors for half an hour at 4°C. Cells were then fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde /PBS for half an hour and permeabilized with wash buffer (PBS supplemented with 3% BSA, 0.1% Triton X-100). After washing the cells in buffer they were then labeled with FITC conjugated total β-catenin antibody (610155, BD Transduction) for half an hour at 4°C. An isotype antibody labeled with FITC was used as a negative control for FITC. Data acquisition was performed using BD FACS Aria sorter and data analysis was done using Flow Jo software v.7.5.5 (Treestar, Ashland, OR).

## Western blot

Treated cells from different experiments were rinsed once with ice-cold PBS and whole cell protein extracts were obtained by briefly sonicating the cell pellets and then boiling the lysates for 5 minutes in sample lysis buffer containing 50 mM Tris (tris hydroxymethyl aminomethane; pH 6.8), 1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), 10% glycerol and 1 mM dithiothreitol (DTT). Nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions were separated using the NE-PER extraction kit as per the manufacturer's instructions (Pierce, Rockford, IL). Protein concentration was determined using bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay reagents from Pierce according to the manufacturer's guidelines. Cell extracts were then denatured at 95°C for 5 min in 2x sample buffer (62.5 mM Tris HCl, pH 6.8, 25% glycerol, 0.01% bromophenol blue, 2% SDS,10%  $\beta$ mercaptoethanol). Equal amount of protein extracts were separated on an 8-16% gradient Tris-Glycine SDS-poly acrylamide gel (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) by electrophoresis (PAGE) and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Millipore) using Bio-Rad MiniProtean3® system. The membranes were treated in blocking solution (5% non fat dry milk in TBS containing 0.1% Tween 20) and incubated with primary active  $\beta$ -catenin antibody (05-665, Millipore, 1 µg/ml) overnight at 4°C, followed by incubation with HRP-conjugated monoclonal mouse secondary IgG antibody (1: 3000, 7074, GE Healthcare, CT). An anti-mouse GAPDH antibody (MAB374,



GE Healthcare, CT) was used to assess equal loading. Proteins were visualized by ECL (GE Healthcare, CT). A Benchmark <sup>TM</sup> protein ladder was used to visualize the transfer of protein onto the membrane and MagicMark <sup>TM</sup> XP (Invitrogen) was used as a molecular size standard.

# Results

#### EML cells have high total β-catenin levels

Wnt signaling is important in embryogenesis and is required for the maintenance of the hematopoietic stem cell state (Reya *et al.*, 2003). The canonical Wnt pathway involves the stabilization and nuclear accumulation of its downstream target, β-catenin (Mc Donald *et al.*, 2006). In order to determine the activity of Wnt signaling in the hematopoietic precursor cell line EML, we performed intracellular staining to assess the β-catenin accumulation.



Figure 3.1 High  $\beta$ -catenin accumulation in EML cells. Intracellular staining was done to examine the level of total  $\beta$ -catenin protein in EML cells. Increased  $\beta$ - catenin accumulation is present in EML (purple) cells in comparison with other cell types normal L cells (brown), Wnt 3a (green) which have active canonical Wnt pathway due to secretion of Wnt in the medium. Noncanonical Wnt 5a (red) expressing cells do not appear to show any accumulation of  $\beta$ - catenin. FITC mean fluroscence values are listed in the figure. L-cells +ve is labeled with FITC conjugated  $\beta$ - catenin antibody.



EML cells showed higher  $\beta$ -catenin accumulation compared to normal L cells, Wnt 3a L and Wnt 5a L cells (Figure 3.1). Wnt 3a transfected cells were used as a positive control for active canonical Wnt signaling and Wnt 5a as a positive control for non-canonical Wnt signaling. However, L cells represented basal levels of  $\beta$ -catenin, which is expected because of its role in the cytoskeleton (Brembeck *et al.*, 2006). The signal intensity of  $\beta$ -catenin was two-fold higher in EML cells relative to Wnt 3a-L cells. The Wnt 5a expressing cells do not appear to show any accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin as the signal intensity of  $\beta$ -catenin was similar in them relative to the L cells.

# Hsp90 inhibition leads to reduction in total ß-catenin levels in EML cells

Functional inactivation of Hsp90 led to a transdifferentiation event in successive generations of *Drosophila* due to epigenetic regulation. This transdifferentiation event in *Drosophila* also led to abnormal activation of Wnt signaling (Sollars *et al.*, 2003). My study was aimed at ascertaining whether in a mammalian model Hsp90 regulates the Wnt pathway through an epigenetic mechanism. A hematopoietic precursor cell line, EML, was used as a representative mammalian model system. Since the half life of Hsp90 dissociation and biological persistence is short (Supko *et al.*, 1995), and EML cells undergo one cellular division during the 24 hour rest period, a protocol of pharmacological inhibition followed by a recovery period will help in analyzing epigenetic effects. Our goal is to achieve an epigenetic phenotype for the EML cells which will be analyzed in future experiments. Before testing the epigenetic mechanism we wanted to examine the effect of Hsp90 inhibition on the Wnt singaling. Thus, EML cells were treated with GA for 24 hours followed by a 24 hour rest period before determining the accumulation of β-catenin. We observed a decrease in total β-catenin levels after GA treatment, indicated by both the reduction in the percentage positive as well as the median fluorescence of total β-catenin (Figure 3.2). There was more than a 40%, statistically significant reduction of



signal intensity for total ß-catenin in 10 nM GA treated EML cells relative to control.



**Figure 3.2 Decrease in total**  $\beta$ **-catenin protein in EML cells after Hsp90 inhibition.** EML cells were exposed to vehicle (DMSO), 5 nM or 10 nM GA for 24 hours. The cells were then allowed to recover for 24 hours, and  $\beta$ -catenin levels were analysed using flow cytometry. Total volume of DMSO was constant in all trials. (A) shows the percentage of EML cells which were positive for  $\beta$ -catenin (\*p value < 0.01). (B) shows the median fluorescence values for  $\beta$ -catenin protein (\*\*p value < 0.05) (N=3).

# Activation of the canonical Wnt pathway after inhibition of Hsp90 in EML cells

In the absence of phosphorylation by glycogen synthase kinase (GSK3 ß), β-catenin is stabilized referred to as active β-catenin, which translocates to the nucleus, an indication of active Wnt signaling (Van Noort M *et al.*, 2002). Since total β-catenin levels are not an accurate representation of the activation of Wnt pathway we wanted to determine the effect of Hsp90 inhibition on the active β-catenin levels in EML cells by western blotting. When we treated EML cells with different concentrations of GA, we found that active β-catenin protein was highly expressed in 10 nM GA treated EML cells relative to vehicle control and 15 nM GA treated EML cells (Figure 3.3 A).



To further determine the effect of 10 nM GA on  $\beta$ -catenin levels and to determine how long the Wnt pathway remains activated, we did a time course study. It seemed that the upregulation in the levels of active  $\beta$ -catenin protein lasted for only 24 hours (Figure 3.3 B). In this figure, ponceau staining was used as a loading control. This data suggests that the Wnt pathway might be activated after the inhibition of Hsp90 in EML cells, but if this does occur it is of a short duration.



Figure 3.3 Activation of the Wnt pathway after inhibition of Hsp90 in EML cells. (A) EML cells were treated with vehicle, 10 and 15 nM GA for 24 hours and rested for another 24 hours. Whole cell lysates were extracted and analyzed by western blot analysis to detect active  $\beta$ -catenin protein levels. Ponceau staining was done to determine equal loading. This blot is representative of two independent experiments. (B) EML cells were treated with 10 nM GA for 24 hours and followed by a 24 hour rest period as before. Western blot was done on the whole cell extracts at 24, 48, 72 hours and 1 week time course. 'C' represents the vehicle control. This blot is representative of two independent experiments.

# Loss of Wnt pathway activation in GA treated EML cells after differentiation

We wanted to observe whether our preliminary finding of the up-regulation in Wnt

signaling due to Hsp90 inhibition (Fig. 3.3) results in changes in the expression of ß-catenin



after differentiation of EML cells. Therefore, we inhibited Hsp90 and then forced EML cells to differentiate toward the granulocyte macrophage pathway by treating them with RA and GMCSF.



Figure 3.4 Wnt pathway activation in GA treated EML cells after differentiation. (A) EML cells were treated with 10 nM GA for 24 hours and rested for another 24 hours before proceeding with the differentiation protocol. Nuclear extracts were isolated and western blot analysis was done to determine the levels of active  $\beta$ -catenin after treatment with RA and GMCSF. This is a representative blot for two independent experiments. (B) EML cells were treated with 10 nM GA and then a second dose of 5 nM given during our differentiation protocol along with treatment with RA and IL-3. Western blot analysis was done after extracts to examine the levels of active  $\beta$ -catenin. GAPDH was used as a loading control. This is a representative blot for two independent experiments. 'C' represents the vehicle control.

In this experiment, Hsp90 inhibition did not show any effect on the active ß-catenin expression. Secondly, we found that upon differentiation with RA as well as GMCSF in the EML cells activity of ß-catenin was inhibited regardless of Hsp90 inhibition (Figure 3.4A). This data suggests that Hsp90 inhibition does not seem to play a role in Wnt pathway activation



with or without forced differentiation of EML cells. Next, we tried to modify our treatment protocol by giving a second dose of GA during differentiation but that also seem to have no effect on the levels of active β-catenin (Figure 3.4B).

# Wnt pathway activation through inhibition of Hsp90 in EML cells was not consistent

Next, we wanted to reproduce the earlier findings of Hsp90 inhibition on β-catenin activity in EML cells. Therefore, EML cells were treated with various concentration of GA for 24 hours and active β-catenin levels were measured by western blot.





Figure 3.5 Up-regulation of Wnt signaling observed previously was not consistent. (A) EML cells were treated with vehicle, 1, 2, 5 or 10nM GA for 24 hours followed by a 24 hour rest period. Nuclear extracts were isolated and active  $\beta$ -catenin levels were measured. GAPDH was used as a loading control. This blot is representative of at least three different experiments. 'C' represents the vehicle control. (B) The densitometric analysis for the above experiment.



www.manaraa.com

We found that there was no significant difference in the active ß-catenin levels between the vehicle control relative to GA treated EML cells (Figure 3.5). This data indicates that the upregulation of Wnt signaling upon Hsp90 inhibition in EML cells as observed in our preliminary studies is inconsistent.

## Discussion

We observed an increased expression of β-catenin in EML cells compared to the L-Wnt 3a cells, which have active canonical Wnt signaling. This is consistent with the fact that EML cells are stem cell in nature and the self renewal pathway such as canonical Wnt signaling is required for maintenance of a hematopoietic stem cell state. Deregulation of Wnt signaling, which is normally tightly regulated, has been identified as an important step in leukemic transformation. Common myeloid progenitor (CMP) gives rise to granulocyte macrophage progenitor (GMP) which can form either granulocytes or macrophages that have an active Wnt/ β-catenin pathway. The GMP has elevated levels of nuclear β-catenin and has been identified as candidate leukemic stem cell in blast crisis chronic myelogenous leukemia (Jamieson *et al.*, 2004). Moreover mutations in members of the Wnt -β- catenin pathway occur in 90% of the colorectal cancers and other cancers such as hepatocellular and gastric cancers (Brembeck *et al.*, 2006).

In EML cells, after inhibiting Hsp90, we saw a down-regulation of total ß-catenin expression in contrast to what was observed in *Drosophila*. Hsp90 inhibitors have been shown to have higher binding affinity to tumor cells than normal cells leading, to proteosomal degradation of Hsp90 client proteins. However, several studies have also demonstrated the toxic effects of Hsp90 inhibitors on the normal cells. In two different studies, Hsp90 inhibitors were found to be extremely cytotoxic to the Oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPCs) and human retinal pigment epithelial cells respectively *in vitro* (Alcazar and Cid, 2009; Wu *et al.*, 2010). In another study, it has been shown that the Hsp90 inhibitor geldanamycin and its analogs have



cytotoxic effects on rat primary hepatocytes due to generation of reactive oxygen species (Samuni *et al.*, 2010). Therfore Hsp90 inhibitors might be toxic to EML cells and this toxicity can result in a general down-regulation of protein expression and a lowering of β-catenin protein levels. Moreover, given the role of Hsp90 in diverse biologic processes, drugs targeting Hsp90 will have side effects on normal cellular function.

Canonical Wnt pathway activation is achieved by stabilization of B-catenin and translocation to the nucleus, activating the transcription of target genes responsible for cellular proliferation and differentiation (Brembeck et al., 2006). Therefore we measured the amount of active ß-catenin that is due to dephosphorylated on Ser 37 or Thr41 of the molecule (Fig. 3.3 and 3.4). Surprisingly, we saw an increase in active  $\beta$ -catenin levels after inhibition of Hsp90 in EML cells, which is contradictory to what we previously found. This could be explained by the fact that β-catenin is also involved in cell-cell adhesion at the plasma membrane by mediating association of integrins with intracellular actins in myeloid cells (Brembeck et al., 2006). Inhibition of Hsp90 affects both the transcriptional regulation and cellular adhesion functions of B-catenin. Also, Hsp90 is required for constitutive and inducible activity of the IKB kinase (IKK) complex (Broemer et al., 2002). Therefore, inhibition of Hsp90 results in impairment of IKK activity. IKK regulates β-catenin via phosphorylation and ubiquitin dependent degradation. It has been shown that IKK  $\beta$  decreases  $\beta$  –catenin dependent gene expression similar to the effects seen with GSK-3 ß (Lamberti et al., 2001). In addition, the up-regulation in Wnt signaling upon Hsp90 inhibition in EML cells is consistent with the previous finding of increased Wg expression in Drosophila upon Hsp90 inhibition (Sollars et al., 2003).

The up-regulation of Wnt signaling upon Hsp90 inhibiton in EML cells lasted only for short duration. The half life of the Hsp90- GA complex is short, indicating Hsp90 inactivation is short-lived once GA is no longer supplied to the EML cells. Also the biological half life of GA in mice is 77.7 minutes (Supko *et al.*, 1995), which means it is rapidly degraded. Since the



biological persistence of Hsp90 is short, it is not surprising that the up-regulation in Wnt signalling was short-lived.

We did not observe any changes in the active  $\beta$ -catenin levels upon Hsp90 inhibition in differentiating EML cells. This could be due to the fact that we did not see an effect of Hsp90 inhibition in the control and GA treated EML cells in this experiment. Interestingly, we found that active  $\beta$ -catenin was not expressed in differentiating EML cells. This is consistent with the observation that Wnt signaling is involved in the maintenance and renewal of hematopoietic progenitors/stem cells and inhibition of Wnt pathway induces their differentiation (Kirstetter *et al.*, 2006). Also, it has been shown that expression of a mutant active  $\beta$ -catenin in normal progenitors impairs myelomonocytic differentiation (Simon *et al.*, 2005).

Future experiments focused on attaining the inhibition of Hsp90 by treating EML cells with varying doses of GA. It was thought that the effect on the Wnt signaling might be seen at different concentration of GA. We also tried to use early passaged EML cells for our experiments. Moreover a longer rest period was given to EML cells after GA treatment. But our repeated attempts to revive the phenotype were unsuccessful and there was no significant difference in the active β- catenin levels in the vehicle and GA treated EML cells. Another study conducted in our lab to look at the effect of Hsp90 inhibition on the myeloid cell differentiation also indicated variable results and no effect on the differentiation profile of EML cells (Napper, 2010). This could be attributed to the fact that inhibition of Hsp90 might not have any effect on the Wnt signaling at least in the *in vitro* EML cell model.

Two earlier studies have reported that EML cells are a heterogenous population. In one study the authors demonstrated that can be separated into two different populations based on CD34 expression. Levels of stem cell factor receptor (c-kit) are similar in both these populations but they differ in growth characteristics and response to cytokines. The CD34<sup>+</sup> population shows a growth response when treated with SCF while the CD34<sup>-</sup> population grew



in the presence of IL-3.The CD34<sup>+</sup> population is able to regenerate the mixed population upon stimulation with SCF (Ye *et al.*, 2005). Another study demonstrated the broad spectrum of Sca-1 expression in EML cells, which was enlisted as the cause of clonal subpopulations in these cells. Both high and low Sca-1 expression populations were able to reconstitute the parental distribution of Sca-1. Most strikingly, the cells at the extremes of the spectrum differed in their differentiation potential. Sca-1<sup>+</sup>cells were strongly biased toward myeloid differentiation while Sca-1<sup>-</sup> cells toward erythroid differentiation (Chang *et al.*, 2008). These studies indicate that EML cells are a heterogeneous population having different populations with phenotypic cell-tocell variability. This is consistent with the notion that hematopoietic cells have an intrinsic ability that generates a spectrum of progeny with different differentiation biases, resulting in commitment either spontaneously or as a consequence of extracellular signals. This heterogeneity might be attributed to biological noise, which is the fluctuation of transcriptional regulators.

The Wnt signaling pathway controls hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) self-renewal and differentiation of hematopoietic progenitors. Aberrant Wnt signaling is associated with leukemia. Researchers have focused recently on the dietary fatty acids due to their beneficial effects on health and disease. Omega fatty acids have been shown to promote myeloid cell differentiation. Therefore, in the studies described in the next chapter, I have investigated the effect of omega fatty acids on Wnt signaling in the hematopoietic stem cell model.



www.manaraa.com

# Chapter Four: Effect of omega-3 and 6 fatty acids on the Wnt signaling in hematopoietic precursor, EML cell line

# Abstract

The pro-inflammatory omega-6 fatty acids are metabolized through the cyclooxygenase (COX) pathway into inflammatory eicosanoids, including prostaglandin E2. In contrast, omega-3 fatty acids exhibit their anti-inflammatory properties by competitively inhibiting the arachidonic acid (AA) cascade, mainly at the COX pathway. The Wnt signalling pathway has a key function in stem cell maintenance and differentiation of haematopoietic progenitors and is involved in leukemia progression. Omega-3 FAs have been shown to promote differentiation and induce apoptosis in different cell lines. The objective of this study was to determine whether omega FA altered Wnt signaling in a hematopoietic stem cell model. Our preliminary data suggested that treatment of a lymphohematopoietic stem cell line, EML, with eicosapentanoic acid, EPA (omega-3 FA) might lead to the down-regulation of Wnt signaling compared to treatment with arachidonic acid, AA (omega-6 FA). Interestingly, similar results were seen when promonocytic leukemic HL-60 cells were treated with omega-3 FA. Unfortunately, these changes were not consistent and more investigation needs to be done to standardize the experimental conditions required to obtain reproducible changes in cells treated with omega-3 FA.



# Introduction

Omega-6 fatty acids (FA) are derived from linolenic acid (LA, 18:2) and omegas 3 FA are derived from  $\alpha$ -linolenic acids (ALA, 18:3). Linolenic acid and  $\alpha$ -linolenic FA are essential FAs that cannot be synthesized in the body and have to be obtained from the diet (Das, 2008). Both omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acids (FA) are metabolized by the same set of enzymes to their respective long-chain metabolites. However, the metabolic products of each pathway are structurally and functionally distinct. LA is metabolized to arachidonic acid (AA, 20:4, omega-6), while ALA can be metabolized to eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, 20:5, omega-3) and ultimately docosahexanoic acid (DHA, 22:6, omega-3). Alternatively, AA can be obtained from animal fat sources and EPA and DHA can be consumed directly from marine sources (Anderson and Ma., 2009).

EPA exhibits anti-inflammatory properties while AA has pro-inflammatory action. EPA and AA exert these effects as they are the substrates for the synthesis of a group of antiand pro-inflammatory mediators respectively including thromboxanes, leukotrienes, and prostaglandins, collectively referred to as eicosanoids, via the cyclooxygenase (COX) and lipoxygenase pathway(Anderson and Ma, 2009).

The ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 FAs is believed to be of higher importance than the absolute levels of a particular fatty acid and is thought to play a role in inflammatory, heart, and metabolic diseases, as well as cancer (Gleissman *et al.*, 2010). Impaired differentiation is the hallmark of many forms of cancer, but is particularly pronounced in myeloid leukemias. Omega-3 FA have been shown to promote differentiation by affecting myeloid progenitor cell frequency (Dupuis *et al.*, 1997; Varney *et al.*, 2009) and thus can be potentially used as a therapy in myeloid leukemias.



77

The Wnt signaling pathway controls hematopoietic stem cell (HSC) self-renewal and bone marrow repopulation; aberrant Wnt signaling is associated with carcinogenesis (Jamieson *et al.*, 2004; Brembeck *et al.*, 2006). It has been shown in previous studies using the *Drosophila* model system that the Wnt pathway can be epigenetically regulated (Sollars *et al.*, 2003). In these studies mutations in trithorax group of genes or Hsp90 resulted in the gain of function expression of wingless, which was epigenetically inherited. It is thought that epigenetic silencing of secreted frizzled related proteins (SFRP) that have been implicated in colorectal cancer, results in the accumulation of the Wnt ligand and activated signaling (Suzuki *et al.*, 2004). Also, Wnt activation in stem cells requires PGE2, a byproduct of AA metabolism (omega-6 FA). Inhibition of PGE2 synthesis blocks alterations in HSC formation at the level of β-catenin Wntinduced (Goeslling, 2009). Omega-3 FAs have been shown to inhibit COX-2 derived PGE2 and Wnt/β-catenin signaling in hepatocellular and cholangiocarcinoma (Lim *et al.*, 2008; Lim *et al.*, 2009).

Thus, I hypothesize that high omega-3 FAs might inhibit leukemic progression by inducing differentiation via down-regulation of the Wnt pathway. We used EML cells as a model to study hematopoietic differentiation and determined the effect of exposure to various ratios of omega-3 and 6 FA on Wnt pathway activation. Wnt pathway activation was measured by the nuclear accumulation, β-catenin.

# **Materials and Methods**

# Materials

Arachdonic acid, AA (A3555), Eicosapentanoic acid, EPA (E2011) and fatty acid free bovine serum albumin, BSA (A3782) were purchased from Sigma. Active β-catenin antibody (05-665) was purchased from Millipore.



# **Cell culture**

EML C1 cells (American Type culture collection, ATCC, Manassas, VA) were maintained in growth medium which is base medium (IMDM supplemented with 20% heat inactivated horse serum and 10% BHK/MKL-conditioned medium, (Tsai S *et al.*, 1994). HL-60 cells (ATCC, Manassas, VA) were cultured in IMDM and 20% FBS while U-937 cells were cultured in RPMI supplemented with 10% FBS at 37° C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

# **Fatty acid Treatments**

EML cells were seeded at  $2x10^5$  cells/ml in growth medium and treated with 60µM fatty acids including high AA (AA: EPA; 9:1), equal (AA: EPA; 1:1), high EPA (AA: EPA; 1:9) dissolved in vehicle (ethanol) for 96 hours. After 48 hours cells were washed with PBS and the same concentration of fatty acids was resupplemented along with the culture medium.

# Immunoblotting

Nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions were separated using the NE-PER extraction kit as per the manufacturer's instructions (Pierce, Rockford, IL). Protein concentration was determined using bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay reagents from Pierce according to the manufacturer's guidelines. Cell extracts were then denatured at 95°C for 5 min in 2x sample buffer (62.5 mM Tris HCl (pH 6.8), 25% glycerol, 0.01% bromophenol blue, 2% SDS,10% βmercaptoethanol). Equal amount of protein extracts were separated on an 8-16% gradient Tris-Glycine SDS–poly acrylamide gel (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) by electrophoresis (PAGE) and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Millipore) using Bio-Rad MiniProtean3® system. The membranes were treated in blocking solution (5% non fat dry milk in TBS containing 0.1%



Tween 20) and incubated with primary active β-catenin antibody (05-665, Millipore, 1µg/ml) overnight at 4°C, followed by incubation with HRP-conjugated monoclonal mouse secondary IgG antibody (1: 3000, 7074, GE Healthcare,CT). An anti-mouse GAPDH antibody (MAB374, GE Healthcare, CT) was used to assess equal loading. Proteins were visualized by ECL (GE Healthcare, CT). Benchmark <sup>TM</sup> protein ladder was used to visualize the transfer of protein onto the membrane and MagicMark <sup>TM</sup> XP (Invitrogen) was used as a molecular size standard.

# Results

## Omega-3 fatty acids downregulate Wnt signaling in EML and HL- 60 cells

Wnt signaling is involved in maintaining the stem cell state in the hematopoietic system (Brembeck *et al.*, 2006). Omega-3 FAs have been shown to promote myeloid differentiation (Dupuis *et al.*, 1997, Varney *et al.*, 2009). Also, omega-3 FAs have been reported to induce differentiation in breast cancer (Wang *et al.*, 2000) and inhibit Wnt signaling in other cancers (Lim *et al.*, 2008; Lim *et al.*, 2009). To determine the effects of omega FAs on Wnt signaling in the hematopoietic system we used EML cells as a model. The EML cell line was established from DBA/2 mouse bone marrow infected with a retroviral vector (LRAR $\alpha$ 403SN) harboring a dominant negative retinoic acid receptor (RAR construct) (Tsai *et al.*, 1994). It is a stem cell factor dependent multipotent cell line with myeloid, erythroid and lymphoid potential and serves as an excellent model to study the hematopoietic system. A concentration of 60  $\mu$ M was chosen for all FAs (Finstad *et al.*, 1998; Finstad *et al.*, 2000). EML cells were treated with different ratios of omega-3 (EPA) and 6 (AA) FAs. The effect of omega FA on the Wnt signaling in EML cells was analyzed based on active *B*-catenin accumulation in the nucleus. A 96 hour time point was chosen for our studies based on the preliminary data showing the effective loading of fatty acid on the cell membrane by gas chromatography. High omega-3 FA



treated EML cells showed reduction in active β-catenin levels relative to high omega-6 treated cells (Figure 4.1A).







www.manaraa.com

Figure 4.1. Omega-3 fatty acids downregulate Wnt signaling in EML and HL- 60 cells. Cells were exposed to vehicle, high AA (omega-6) (AA: EPA; 9:1), equal ratio of AA and EPA (omega-6+omega-3) (AA: EPA; 1:1), high EPA (omega-3) (AA: EPA; 1:9) for 96 hours. Thereafter, cells were washed with PBS and resupplemented with respective FA after 48 hours. Nuclear extracts were isolated and western blot was done to determine the levels of active  $\beta$ catenin. Each panel shows a representative blot (A) EML cells (B) HL-60 cells. At the bottom of each blot is the densitometric analysis for that blot. Each blot is representative of two independent experiments. A549 cell lysate was used as a positive control for active  $\beta$ -catenin and is represented as +ve control.

Activated Wnt signaling is involved in many forms of cancer including acute and chronic myeloid leukemia (Wang *et al.*, 2010; Jamieson *et al.*, 2004). Therefore, we examined the effect of omega fatty acids on Wnt signaling in HL-60, a human promyelocyte leukemic cell line. HL- 60 cells were treated with different ratios of EPA and AA as described above and β-catenin accumulation was assayed by western blot analysis (Figure 4.1B). Our data suggested the down-regulation of active β-catenin levels in high omega-3 FA treated HL-60 cells relative to high omega-6 treatment

This data indicates that the Wnt pathway is inhibited upon treatment with omega-3 fatty acids in hematopoietic stem cell culture as well as the leukemic HL-60 cell line.

# Down-regulation of Wnt signaling by omega-3 fatty acids in EML, HL-60 and U-937 cells was inconsistent

Unfortunately when further experiments were done to understand the significance of the above data we found conflicting results. We did not see any significant difference between the levels of active β-catenin in high omega-3 FA treated relative to high omega-6 FA treated EML cells (Figure 4.2 A).











Figure 4.2. Down-regulation of Wnt signaling by omega-3 fatty acids in EML, HL-60 and U-937 cells was inconsistent. EML cells were exposed to vehicle, high AA (omega-6) (AA: EPA; 9:1), equal ratio of AA and EPA (omega-6+omega-3) (AA: EPA; 1:1), high EPA (omega-3) (AA: EPA; 1:9) for 96 hours. Cells were washed with PBS and resupplemented with respective FA after 48 hours. Nuclear extracts were isolated and western blot was done to determine the levels of active  $\beta$ -catenin. Each panel shows a representative blot (A) EML (B) HL-60 C) U-937. At the bottom of each blot is the densitometric analysis for that blot. Each blot is representative of two independent experiments.A549 cell lysate was used as a positive control for active  $\beta$ -catenin and is represented as +ve control.

Similarly, the preliminary data showing that Wnt signaling might be downregulated in omega-3 FA treated relative to omega-6 FA treated HL-60 cells was not reproducible (Figure 4.2 B). We looked at the effects of omega fatty acid treatment in another monocyte like leukemia cell line, U-937, but we found no difference in the level of active β-catenin expression in omega-3 FA treated versus high omega-6 FA treated U-937 cells (Figure 4.2 C)



# Attempts to achieve the reduction in the Wnt signaling seen previously upon omega-3 fatty acid treatment were unsuccessful

We wanted to standardize our treatment protocol with omega FAs. Therefore, we used different methods to treat EML cells with omega FA to see if there was an effect on Wnt signaling. Some studies had demonstrated the use of EPA/AA with sodium salt as a base (Asano et al., 1997; Seung Kim et al., 2001; Edwards et al., 2004). Therefore, we treated EML cells with sodium salts of EPA and AA but did not observe any significant difference in the active ß-catenin levels in omega-3 and omega-6 FA treated EML cells (data not shown). Other studies reported the treatment of cells after serum starvation with FAs along with bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Melki and Abumrad, 1992; Ishola et al., 2006). To test this protocol, EML cells were serum starved for 24 hours and then treated with AA or EPA complexed to bovine serum albumin (BSA) at a molar ratio of 4:1 (FA/BSA) to a final concentration of 60µmol/L for 5 hours. Interestingly, treatment of FA itself led to massive mortality in EML cells. We also used variable molar ratios of FA/BSA; 2:1 and 1:1. Further, after serum starvation for 24 hours we supplemented EML cells with reduced concentration of serum (5, 10, and 15%) treated with AA and EPA and performed cell viability assay after 24 and 48 hours (Fig. 4.3). There was significant mortality in EML cells treated with FAs relative to vehicle control, but this effect was more pronounced in omega-6 compared to omega-3 FA treated EML cells. We speculated that omega FAs treated cells might be differentiating and may need a stimulant like IL-3 for survival. More investigation needs to be done to find a protocol for treating EML and leukemic cell lines with omega fatty acids that will yield consistent results.





24 hour



48 hour

Figure 4.3. Attempts to achieve the reduction in the Wnt signaling seen previously upon omega-3 fatty acid treatment were unsuccessful. EML cells were serum starved for 24 hours and then treated with vehicle, high AA (omega-6) (AA: EPA; 9:1), equal ratios of AA and EPA (omega-6+omega-3) (AA: EPA; 1:1), high EPA (omega-3) (AA: EPA; 1:9) in 5, 10 and 15% horse serum. Cell counts were performed by trypan blue dye exclusion method at 24 and 48 hours after the treatment.



# Discussion

EML cells are stem cell in nature and have an active Wnt signaling pathway indicated by the nuclear translocation of active ß-catenin. Wnt signaling regulates stem cell fate in the hematopoietic system by self renewal of HSC. Deregulation of Wnt signaling, which is normally tightly regulated, has been identified as an important step in leukemic transformation. HSC differentiate into common myeloid progenitor cells (CMP) that gives rise to granulocyte macrophage progenitors (GMP). GMP has been identified as the candidate leukemic stem cell in the blast crisis stage of chronic myelogenous leukemia and has an active Wnt/ß-catenin pathway (Jamieson *et al.*, 2004). We observed reduction in active ß-catenin expression in EML cells treated with high omega-3 FA relative to omega-6 FA, consistent with the fact that omega-3 FAs have been shown to promote myeloid differentiation (Dupuis *et al.*, 1997; Varney *et al.*, 2009).

We initially saw down-regulation of active  $\beta$ -catenin protein in acute promyelocytic leukemia, HL-60 cells upon exposure to high omega-3 FAs. It has been shown previously that omega-3 FAs inhibit proliferation and induce differentiation in HL-60 cells which supports our data (Finstad, 1994). Also, Wnt signaling is active in various cancers including myeloid leukemia. Omega-3 FAs have been shown to inhibit omega-6 FA product, PGE2 and Wnt/ $\beta$ catenin signaling in hepatocellular and cholangiocarcinoma (Lim *et al.*, 2008; Lim *et al.*, 2009). Up-regulation of Wnt signaling through epigenetic gene silencing of SFRPs is involved in many forms of cancer. Wnt activation in stem cells requires PGE2 (product of omega-6 FAs), and it has been shown recently that inhibition of PGE2 synthesis blocked Wnt-induced alterations in HSC formation at the level of  $\beta$ -catenin *in vivo* (Goeslling *et al.*, 2009). These initial findings indicated that omega-3 FA therapies aimed at disruption of the Wnt/ $\beta$ - catenin pathways may be effective in the treatment and chemopreventive effects in leukemia.



87

Unfortunately, additional experiments aimed at understanding the mechanism and effects of down-regulation of Wnt signaling, gave variable results. There was no significant difference in the active ß-catenin expression in both EML and HL-60 omega-3 FA treated compared to the omega-6 FA treated cells. We also measured active ß-catenin levels in the promonocytic U-937 cell line but did not see any difference in the cells exposed to omega-3 versus omega-6 FAs. This inconsistency could be attributed to the fact that FAs exert their effects at several levels, both through signal transduction pathways and on gene transcription. Since the effect of FA on various cellular processes like differentiation and apoptosis depend upon the concentration of FA and serum, exposure time and the cell model used (Rudolph *et al.*, 2001). It may be possible that inactivation of Wnt signaling by omega-3 FAs is a sensitive event which requires a specific set conditions to be met. Another possibility could be that omega FAs exerts their effects in the hematopoietic system through signal transduction pathways other than Wnt ß-catenin pathway.

We used different methods to treat EML and HL-60 cells with various ratios of FA to achieve our initial results but none of these were successful. Since, PUFA are not soluble in the aqueous medium we tried sodium salts of FAs which have increased water solubility. Moreover, FAs are carried within the body complexed to serum albumin and the FA: BSA complexes are the main factors controlling FA availability for uptake (Melki *et al.*, 1992). Therefore, we serum starved EML cells to deplete any albumin present in the serum that might bind to the free fatty acid and then treated the cells with FAs complexed to BSA.

We observed massive cell mortality in EML cells after exposure to either omega-3 or 6 FAs complexed with BSA, relative to the vehicle control. Several studies have reported the cytotoxic effects of FA on different model systems. In one study, the authors demonstrated that FA sensitive Burkitt lymphoma cell lines, Raji and Ramos, die by necrosis and apoptosis than the FA resistant U-698 cell line upon incubation with EPA, respectively. These FA sensitive



cell lines exhibit a 2 to 3 fold higher uptake rate of EPA than the FA resistant cell line. Accumulation of TAG-rich lipid bodies was seen in Ramos cells incubated with 60 µm EPA indicating a role for lipid bodies in regulation of the cellular suicide program. A high number of TAG-rich bodies in Ramos cells, containing 2–3 molecules of EPA or DHA per glycerol backbone, may cause marked changes in intracellular signal transduction and thereby initiate apoptosis (Finstad *et al.*, 2000).This response to *in vitro* fatty acid supplementation has previously been reported for U937-1 cells (Finstad *et al.*, 1998). In another study AA and EPA were shown to induce apotosis and necrosis in a dose dependent manner in a murine macrophage cell line, J774. When these cells were treated with FAs, they exhibited higher granularity, suggesting accumulation of lipid droplets. The cytotoxic effects of the FAs were suggested to be related to their ability to be incorporated into TAG (Martins *et al.*, 2006).

Moreover, the variability in our data could be due to the heterogenous nature of EML cells. It has been shown that EML cells can be separated into two different populations based on CD34 expression. Levels of stem cell factor receptor (c-kit) are similar in both these populations but they differ in growth characteristics and response to cytokines (Ye *et al.*, 2005). Another study demonstrated a broad spectrum of Sca-1 expression in EML cells which was suggested to be the cause of clonal subpopulations in these cells. Most strikingly, the cells at the extremes of the spectrum differed in their differentiation potential (Chang *et al.*, 2008). These studies indicate that EML cells are a heterogeneous population having phenotypic cell-to-cell variability.

Our preliminary results suggested that the down-regulation of Wnt signaling upon exposure to omega-3 FAs may occur in the hematopoietic precursor cell line EML and also leukemic HL-60 cells. Unfortunately we could not reproduce these results. This nonreproducibility might be due to the fact that EML cells take into account only cell autonomous factors. The stem cell niche, which is an important part of stem and progenitor cell biology, is



not recapitulated in this model. Also, EML cells in culture are a heterogenous mixture of cells with populations having different self renewal and differentiation potential. This heterogeneity might have contributed to the variable responses seen in our studies.



# **CHAPTER Five: Discussion and Conclusions**

Hematopoiesis is maintained by a proper balance between self renewal and multipotent differentiation of the HSC. Acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) is characterized by the blockage in the differentiation of HSC while self renewal and proliferation is preserved. Understanding the mechanisms involved in hematopoietic differentiation will help in developing therapies against various hematological disorders including leukemia. To address this question I investigated: (1) the involvement of Hsp90 in the regulation of Wnt signaling in HSCs cell line, (2) the effect of omega-3 and 6 fatty acids treatments on the Wnt signaling in HSC cell line, (3) YB-1 expression and function in early hematopoiesis and leukemic cells.

# (1) The involvement of Hsp90 in the regulation of Wnt signaling in HSCs cell line

Hsp90 acts as a molecular chaperone to ensure the proper folding and refolding of client proteins. Hsp90 clients are implicated in various signal transduction pathways and are involved in the pathogenesis of cancer making it an attractive therapeutic target for cancer. Previous studies in *Drosophila* demonstrated that inhibition of Hsp90 resulted in a transdifferention event where the eye tissue became limb like outgrowth and was demonstrated to occur through epigenetic mechamisms. This abnormal eye phenotype was associated with the upregulated expression of wingless (Wg), a *Drosophila* homolog of Wnt, in the eye imaginal discs. This study indicates that Hsp90 plays a critical role in determining the proper direction of normal stem cell differentiation and might have implications in haematopoesis. In addition, this study is particularly relevant in stem and progenitor cell biology as Wnt signaling regulates the hematopoietic stem cell maintenance and self renewal (Kirstetter *et al.*, 2006). Thus, the aim of the part of my thesis was to determine whether Hsp90 inhibition would block the normal HSC differentiation via up-regulating Wnt signaling.



EML, a hematopoietic stem/progenitor cell line, was used as a model for my studies (Tsai *et al.*, 1994). In chapter 3, our preliminary data showed the transient up-regulation of Wnt signaling upon Hsp90 inhibition in EML cells. This was an important result since it was the first evidence of this interaction in a mammalian system and suggested the possibility of phenotypic plasticity as seen in the *Drosophila* model upon Hsp90 inhibition. Phenotypic plasticity is the ability to adapt to an unfavorable environment and this is particularly important for evolution. Cancer cells show this plasticity, which provides them the ability to survive under adverse conditions. Therefore, this increased adaptability could contribute to cancer progression. However, we had reproducibility issues with these experiments.

Two separate studies have demonstrated the heterogeneity of the EML cell line. This characteristic could be the reason behind the variability in our data. The published study separated EML cells into two separate populations based on the CD34 expression. The CD34 <sup>+</sup> population showed a growth response upon treatment with stem cell factor (SCF) while the CD34<sup>-</sup> cells did not grow in SCF but responded to IL-3 treatment. This shift from the SCF dependent growth to the requirement of IL-3 suggests an early differentiation event in the CD34<sup>-</sup> population. Moreover, CD34 <sup>+</sup> cells were Sca-1<sup>hi</sup> while CD34<sup>-</sup> cells were Sca-1<sup>lo</sup> indicating that CD34 <sup>+</sup> population possessed more stem cell characteristics (Ye *et al.*, 2005). The second study reported the broad spectrum of Sca-1 expression in EML cells that was correlated with changes in differentiation potential. It is possible that these subpopulations exhibit different subpopulations based on the CD34 and Sca-1 expression and then inhibit Hsp90 in the different populations. This will allow the analysis of the specific response of Wnt signaling of each population upon Hsp90 inhibition.



In our initial experiments, we saw a down-regulation of total ß-catenin levels in EML cells after inhibiting Hsp90. Geldanamycin, a Hsp90 inhibitor, and its analogs have cytotoxic effects on normal cells (Alcazar and Cid., 2009; Wu *et al.*, 2010). Therefore, down-regulation of total ß-catenin levels via geldanamycin treatment of EML cells might be toxic. Since the effect of Hsp90 inhibition on Wnt signaling is based on the changes observed in the ß-catenin expression, the overall down-regulation of ß-catenin expression due to toxic effects of geldanamycin would adversely affect the interpretation of our data.

When we differentiated EML cells, active ß-catenin was inhibited in RA and GMCSF treated cells but the undifferentiated EML cells pretreated with Hsp90 inhibitor did not show any effect on the active ß-catenin levels. There was no significant difference in the level of active β-catenin in differentiated and undifferentiated EML cells upon Hsp90 inhibition.

It is possible that Hsp90 might not be involved in regulating Wnt signaling in the mammalian hematopoietic system. In the *Drosophila* model, researchers reported that inhibition of Hsp90 led to the up-regulation in Wg expression resulting in an abnormal eye phenotype (Sollars *et al.*, 2003). However, later analysis of this finding suggested the ectopic adhesion of hemocytes under the eye imaginal disc to be a possible cause for the ectopic outgrowth rather than up-regulated Wg expression in the peripodial membrane. This could be attributed to the fact that hemocytes are involved in tissue remodeling (Ruden *et al.*, 2003). Another possibility is that the EML cell model takes into account only cell autonomous factors. The Wnt axis might not be completely modeled in this system since Wnt is released from the niche cells and taken up by the stem cells. Further, the EML cell line has been derived from mouse bone marrow by the transfection of a dominant negative retinoic acid receptor. This blockage to hematopoietic differentiation in the EML cells could be disrupting the normal Wnt signaling process.



Thus, in this study we show the up-regulation of Wnt signaling in EML cells upon Hsp90 inhibition. Unfortunately, this data was not reproducible. One contributing factor to this lack of reproducibility could be that EML cells are known to have heterogenous populations. Also, this *in vitro* model does not recapitulate the effects of the stem cell niche.

In the future, the role of Hsp90 regulation of Wnt signaling could be investigated in an *in vivo* mouse model. For this study, mice could be treated with Hsp90 inhibitors such as geldanamycin or 17-AAG and the effect of Hsp90 inhibition on normal hematopoesis measured by colony formation assays and various differentiation markers. If Hsp90 inhibition successfully blocks the normal hematopoietic differentiation, then the expression of active β-catenin in HSC or progenitor cell populations would be determined using flow cytometry. Thus, this study would determine the role of Hsp90 in regulating Wnt signaling during HSC differentiation.

# (2) The effect of omega-3 and 6 fatty acids on Wnt signaling in a HSC cell line

AML is characterized by problematic differentiation of HSC while self-renewal and proliferation are preserved. Wnt signaling controls HSC self renewal and is active in various cancers including acute and chronic myeloid leukemia (Wang *et al.*, 2010; Jamieson *et al.*, 2004). Omega-3 FAs have been reported to promote myeloid differentiation by affecting myeloid progenitor cell frequency (Dupuis *et al.*, 1997; Varney *et al.*, 2009). Also, omega-3 FAs have been demonstrated to induce differentiation in breast cancer (Wang *et al.*, 2000) and inhibit Wnt signaling in other cancers (Lim *et al.*, 2008; Lim *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, this section of my thesis research analysed the effect of omega FA on Wnt signaling in the hematopoietic system.



94

In chapter 4, I showed that treatment of EML and HL-60 cells representing HSC and myeloid leukemic cells respectively, with omega-3 FAs led to to the down-regulation of active  $\beta$ -catenin. In the hematopoietic precursor cell line, EML we found that high eicosapentanoic acid (EPA) (omega-3) treated cells showed reduction in active  $\beta$ -catenin levels relative to high arachidonic acid (AA) (omega-6) treated cells. Similar results were observed in the human promyelocyte leukemia cell line, HL-60. These results were exciting because they suggested that omega-3 FA could have therapeutic potential in the treatment of leukemia by disrupting the Wnt/ $\beta$ - catenin pathway.

Unfortunately, the data obtained in these initial experiments was not reproducible. One possibility that I cited earlier in discussing the Hsp90 studies is the heterogeneous nature of the EML cell culture. The presence of different subpopulations in EML cells which differ in their growth characteristics and differentiation potential could lead to variable results (Ye *et al.*, 2005; Chang *et al.*, 2008).

In addition, a report has shown that omega-3 (EPA) or omega-6 (AA) FAs treatment of EML cells do not seem to have a significant difference on their differentiation profile (Varney *et al.*, 2011). In this study EML cells were differentiated into macrophage/granulocytic lineage after exposure to omega-3 and omega-6 FAs. There was no effect of EPA or AA on the early stem cell markers Sca-1 and CD117 upon differentiation of EML cells, though there was a small increase in F4/80 (macrophage marker) after AA treatment. Further, there was no difference in the viability or proliferation of cells treated with either EPA or AA. This suggests that omega FAs does not have any effect on the proliferation and differentiation of early differentiating EML cells. This could be the one of the reasons we did not observe any changes in the Wnt signaling with omega FA treatment of these cells. In the same study, when effects of omega FA were studied in an *in vivo* mouse model it was found that omega FA treatment affected later stages of differentiation and not the stem cell stage. This suggests that to see the


desired effects of omega-3 to omega-6 treatments in EML cells they might need to differentiate for a longer duration.

Stem cell characteristics are known to be regulated by several factors which include cell-cell interactions, growth factors, cytokines, and the physiochemical nature of the environment *in vivo*. These components may only be replicated to a fairly limited extent in an *in vitro* cell model; therefore the EML model gives a limited idea as to what effects FAs have *in vivo*. Thus, the potential effect of omega FAs on hematopoiesis requires the investigation of a mouse model.

Omega FAs can be fed to the mice in the diet as corn (omega-6) or canola oil (omega-3) and its effects on β-catenin accumulation in HSC and myeloid progenitors could be quantified by flow cytometry. In addition, to further determine the effects of FA treatment on Wnt signaling in hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells, these cells can be sorted by flow cytometry using specific cell surface markers and the sorted cells cultured. Unphosphorylated or active β-catenin interacts with TCF/LEF transcription factors to activate the downstream target genes (Mc Donald *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, a reporter assay for the TCF/LEF can be performed in these sorted HSC/progenitor cells as a measure of β-catenin mediated transcriptional activation. Thus, this study would confirm the effect of FA treatments on Wnt signaling by functional activation of β-catenin in addition to its accumulation in HSC/Progenitor cells.

## (3) YB-1 expression and function in early hematopoiesis and leukemic cells

YB-1 promotes cell proliferation through transcriptional regulation of various genes involved in cell division. It also enhances cell growth by promoting both cell cycle progression and DNA replication (Kohno *et al.*, 2003). In addition it induces the expression of genes such



as MMP-2 which are associated with invasion and metastasis (Cheng *et al.*, 2002). Thus, YB-1 is implicated in cancer pathogenesis. YB-1 is reported to be involved in erythroid cell development as it was shown to be highly expressed when erythroid cell maturation was inhibited (Yokoyama *et al.*, 2003a, b). Moreover, YB-1 expression was found to be higher in the bone marrow samples of patients with MDS. Further, YB-1 expression was showed to be higher specifically in the erythroid progenitors of MDS patients. Although YB-1 is reported to be involved in erythropoesis its role and regulation in normal hematopoiesis is not known. Thus part of my thesis research was to investigate the role and function of YB-1 expression in the early hematopoiesis.

YB-1 mRNA and protein expression was high in the hematopoietic stem cell line, EML, but was down-regulated during myeloid differentiation. Similar results were observed in a previous cDNA microarray study that analyzed changes in gene expression during induced myeloid differentiation of EML cells (Ma et al., 2002). Moreover, we found YB-1 to be highly expressed in the lineage/IL-7R<sup>-</sup>/c-kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca-1<sup>+</sup> (LKS, enriched fraction for HSC) and lineage<sup>-</sup>/IL-7R<sup>-</sup>/c-kit<sup>+</sup>/Sca-1<sup>-</sup> (myeloid progenitors) compared to *in vivo* differentiated granulocytes. This finding is consistent with a previous study where YB-1 is highly expressed when erythroid cell maturation was inhibited upon knockdown of GATA-1, an essential factor for erythroid cell development. (Yokoyama et al., 2003b). YB-1 plays a role in embryogenesis and its expression level correlates with the cell proliferation state (Lu et al., 2005). High levels of YB-1 are present in human fetal tissues that represent more a stem cell stage of development, while YB-1 transcript is not detected or is expressed at very low level in many adult tissues (Spitkovsky et al., 1992). These findings are consistent with our data that YB-1 is highly expressed in HSC/progenitor cells while down-regulated in differentiating granulocytes. Our results with a more well-defined cell population further suggest that YB-1 has a role in maintaining the stem cell state.



We also found that YB-1 was highly expressed in various myeloid leukemia cell lines, supporting our hypothesis that YB-1 is involved in cancer progression. This finding is consistent with a previous study which reported increased expression of YB-1 in the bone marrow of patients suffering from MDS (Lee *et al.*, 2001). MDS is considered to be the preleukemic state characterized by the ineffective production of mature blood cells due to increased proliferation and reduced differentiation of HSC. MDS has a high predisposition to transform into acute myelogenous leukemia. Knockdown of GATA-1, a transcription factor required for erythropoieis in mice, leads to inhibition of erythroid differentiation. YB-1 is highly expressed in the GATA-1 knockdown mouse. The mechanism behind YB-1 up-regulation after GATA-1 knockdown is not known. However, these mice have a phenotype similar to human MDS during early stages of life, and in later stages of life they develop acute leukemia (Yokoyama *et al.*, 2003 b). This suggests that YB-1 might be playing a role in the development of MDS and leukemia.

To further investigate the biological effects of YB-1 expression in leukemia, we did loss of function studies. For this we chose the high YB-1 expressing cell line, K-562, and knocked down YB-1 using specific shRNA. Knock down of YB-1 resulted in a growth arrest and induction of apoptosis in K562 cells. This effect was much more pronounced when we used arsenic trioxide (As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>). This compound has been shown to induce apoptosis in acute promyelocytic cells (APL) and is being used a therapeutic agent in leukemia (Tang *et al.*, 1997). As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> treatment of K562 cells with YB-1 knockdown led to a statistically significant reduction in cell proliferation. There was also a significant increase in the apoptotic population of these cells. Down-regulation of YB-1 decreases cell viability and induces apoptosis in multiple myeloma and melanoma cells (Schittek *et al.*, 2007; Chatterjee *et al.*, 2008). Knockdown of YB-1 in the multi drug resistant K562/A02 cell line showed similar results and is consistent with our data (Xu *et al.*, 2009).



Moreover, we found that treatment of As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> in K562 cells with down-regulation of YB-1 resulted in their differentiation toward the megakaryocytic lineage (Figure 5.1). Since impaired differentiation is the hallmark of myeloid leukemia, this finding has a significant impact on our understanding of myeloid differentiation and might be exploited for therapy. As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> exerts double effects on acute promyelocytic cells such as induction of apoptosis and partial differentiation (Tang *et al.*, 1997). We observed changes in the cellular morphology of the YB-1 knockdown cells treated with As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>. Subsequently, we determined the expression of CD41a megakaryocytic/platelet marker. We found significant up-regulation of CD41a in YB-1 depleted K562 cells treated with As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>. To confirm this data, we did ploidy analysis which showed an increase in polyploidy in the As<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> treated K562 cells containing reduced YB-1 levels. There was a significant increase in CD41a in untreated K562 cells when YB-1 was reduced but we did not observe any significant change in cell morphology. This indicates that down-regulation of YB-1 expression could initiate the differentiation process.

In chapter 2, we show for the first time the expression of YB-1 in the hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells and its down-regulation during myeloid differentiation. Further, abnormal YB-1 expression in leukemic cells contributes to leukemic properties by enhancing cell survival and inhibiting cell differentiation (Figure 5.1).

We studied the expression and function of YB-1 *in vitro* using leukemia cell lines. Our findings can be further verified by measuring YB-1 levels in patient samples from acute and chronic myelogenous leukemia. This will help in translating our findings into humans and determine whether YB-1 might be a useful prognostic marker in leukemia.

An important experiment to study the mechanism for the down-regulation of YB-1 during myeloid differentiation would be knocking down YB-1 in EML cells. It would be interesting to see whether knockdown of YB-1 induces spontaneous differentiation in EML cells as seen in K562 leukemic cells. If EML cells differentiate it will further corroborate that



YB-1 plays role in early stage of hematopoietic differentiation at an early stage. It might be possible that EML cells need a stimulant such as IL-3 for differentiation, which would imply that YB-1 acts at a later stage of differentiation.

To investigate the potential effects of YB-1 gene knockdown in K562 cells a gene array study could be beneficial. This assay will help in finding the putative target genes for YB-1.

The PI3K/Akt signaling pathway plays an important role in the proliferation, differentiation and survival of hematopoietic cells. Constitutive activation of PI3K/Akt has been demonstrated in AML patients and is associated with poor prognosis (Min *et al.*, 2003; Kubota *et al.*, 2004). Akt has been shown to phosphorylate YB-1 leading to its nuclear translocation and activation in breast cancer. Inhibition of the PI3K/Akt pathway suppresses nuclear translocation of YB-1 in breast and ovarian cancer (Sutherland *et al.*, 2005; Baski *et al.*, 2006). Since there are no direct inhibitors available for YB-1 we can inhibit it indirectly by using Akt inhibitors in AML cell lines. Further, we could test whether these Akt inhibitors can reduce YB-1 expression in a CML mouse model.

Wnt and Notch pathways play an important role in promoting self renewal in hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (Reya *et al.*, 2003; Duncan *et al.*, 2005). Examining whether YB-1 is involved in the regulation of Wnt and Notch pathways in the hematopoietic system would be of great interest. A recent study in breast cancer reported several members of Wnt and Notch signaling pathways to be the targets of YB-1. Further, c-Kit, which is a receptor expressed on the surface of HSC, was also identified as YB-1 target (Finkbeiner *et al.*, 2009). Mutations in the c-kit gene have been documented in AML and are associated with a poor prognosis (Beghini *et al.*, 2004). Thus, Wnt and Notch pathway elements and c-kit could be the putative targets of YB-1 in the HSC/progenitor cells and in leukemia. Our previous two projects focused on the regulation of Wnt signaling in the hematopoietic system by Hsp90 and omega FAs. If Wnt signaling elements are targets of YB-1 it will be interesting to determine the



association of YB-1 with Hsp90 or omega FAs.

In summary, my overall goal for these studies was to determine potential genes involved in the regulation of hematopoietic differentiation. The first study initially suggested Hsp90 might be involved in regulating Wnt signaling in the hematopoietic system. Our preliminary data showed the transient activation of the canonical Wnt pathway in a hematopoietic precursor cell line EML after the inhibition of Hsp90. Our second study initially indicated that omega-3 FAs might affect Wnt signaling in the hematopoietic system and leukemic cells. These results had great potential in increasing our understanding of how Hsp90 and omega FAs regulate Wnt signaling in the hematopoietic system. Unfortunately, further progress in both of these studies was marred by the variability in repeated experiments. However in our third study we have identified YB-1 as a marker in leukemia and that is responsible for HSC maintenance, making it an attractive therapeutic target. We show high YB-1 expression in the hematopoietic stem cell line EML, as well as in the HSC and myeloid progenitors from mouse bone marrow. We found down-regulation of YB-1 expression during myeloid differentiation in EML cells. Abnormal YB-1 expression was observed in myeloid leukemic cell lines. In addition, increased expression of YB-1 in leukemic cells contributes to the leukemic cell properties by stimulating proliferation, promoting cell survival and blocking differentiation. Since inhibition of YB-1 in leukemic cells can induce differentiation it is an attractive target for the development of new therapies for leukemia.



www.manaraa.com



Figure 5.1 Model for the expression and function of YB-1 in normal and leukemic cells. Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) have the ability to self renew and give rise to common myeloid progenitors (CMPs). CMP further differentiates to produce mature myeloid cells. Blockage in the terminal differentiation of HSCs and CMPs can result in myeloid leukemia. YB-1 is highly expressed in the HSCs and early myeloid progenitors relative to the differentiated myeloid cells. Knockdown of YB-1 expression followed by treatment of arsenic trioxide ( $As_2O_3$ ) in K562 cells resulted in their differentiation toward the megakaryocytic lineage. Thus, increased expression of YB-1 contributes to the leukemic cell properties by promoting cell survival and inhibition of differentiation.



www.manaraa.com

## REFERENCES

Akashi K, Traver D, Miyamoto T, Weissman IL. (2000). A clonogenic common myeloid progenitor that gives rise to all myeloid lineages. Nature. 404:193-7.

Anderson BM, Ma DW. (2009). Are all n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids created equal? Lipids Health Dis. Aug 10:8:33.

Alcazar A and Cid C. (2009). High cytotoxic sensitivity of the oligodendrocyte precursor cells to HSP90 inhibitors in cell cultures. Exp Neurol. Apr;216(2):511-4.

Asano M, Nakajima T, Iwasawa K, Hazama H, Omata M, Soma M *et al.* (1997). Inhibitory effects of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids on receptor-mediated non-selective cation currents in rat A7r5 vascular smooth muscle cells. Br J Pharmacol. Apr;120(7):1367-75.

Augustsson, Katarina *et al.* (2003). A prospective study of intake of fish and marine fatty acids and prostate cancer. Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers & Prevention.12 (1): 64–67.

Bargou RC, Jürchott K, Wagener C, Bergmann S, Metzner S, Bommert K *et al.* (1997). Nuclear localization and increased levels of transcription factor YB-1 in primary human breast cancers are associated with intrinsic MDR1 gene expression. Nat Med. Apr;3(4):447-50.

Basaki Y, Hosoi F, Oda Y, Fotovati A, Maruyama Y, Oie S *et al.* (2007). Akt-dependent nuclear localization of Y-box-binding protein 1 in acquisition of malignant characteristics by human ovarian cancer cells. Oncogene. Apr 26;26(19):2736-46.

Baliga BS, Mankad M, Shah AK, Mankad VN. (1993). Mechanism of differentiation of human erythroleukaemic cell line K562 by Hemin. Cell Prolif. 26: 519–529.

Beghini A, Ripamonti CB, Cairoli R, Cazzaniga G, Colapietro P, Elice F *et al.* (2004). KIT activating mutations: incidence in adult and pediatric acute myeloid leukemia, and identification of an internal tandem duplication.Haematologica. Aug;89(8):920-5.

Bergmann S, Royer-Pokora B, Fietze E *et al.* (2005). YB-1 provokes breast cancer through the induction of chromosomal instability that emerges from mitotic failure and centrosome amplification. Cancer Res.65: 4078-4087.

Brembeck FH, Rosário M, Birchmeier W. (2006). Balancing cell adhesion and Wnt signaling, the key role of beta-catenin. Curr Opin Genet Dev. Feb 16;(1):51-9.

Broemer M, Krappmann D, Scheidereit C. (2004). Requirement of Hsp90 activity for IkappaB kinase (IKK) biosynthesis and for constitutive and inducible IKK and NF-kappaB activation. Oncogene. Jul 8;23(31):5378-86.

Broudy VC. (1997). Stem-cell factor and hematopoiesis. Blood. 90:138-164.

Calviello G, Serini S, Piccioni E, Pessina G. (2009). Antineoplastic effects of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in combination with drugs and radiotherapy: preventive and therapeutic strategies. Nutr Cancer. 61: 287–30.

Chang HH, Hemberg M, Barahona M, *et al.* (2008). Transcriptome-wide noise controls lineage choice in mammalian progenitor cells. Nature. 453:544-547.

Chatterjee M, Rancso C, Stühmer T *et al.* (2008). The Y-box binding protein YB-1 is associated with progressive disease and mediates survival and drug resistance in multiple myeloma. Blood. 111:3714-22.



Chen CF, Chen Y, Dai K, Chen PL, Riley DJ, Lee WH. (1996). A new member of the hsp90 family of molecular chaperones interacts with the retinoblastoma protein during mitosis and after heat shock. Mol Cell Biol. Sep;16(9):4691-9.

Chen Y, Peng C, Sullivan C, Li D, Li S. (2010). Novel therapeutic agents against cancer stem cells of chronic myeloid leukemia. Anticancer Agents Med Chem. 10(2):111-5.

Chen B, Piel WH, Gui L, Bruford E, Monteiro A. (2005). The Hsp90 family of genes in the human genome: insights into their divergence and evolution. Genomics. 86 (6): 627–37.

Chen B, Zhong D, Monteiro A. (2006). Comparative genomics and evolution of the Hsp90 family of genes across all kingdoms of organisms. BMC Genomics. **7**: 156.

Cheng S, Alfonso-Jaume MA, Mertens PR, Lovett DH. (2002).Tumour metastasis suppressor, nm23-beta, inhibits gelatinase A transcription by interference with transactivator Y-box protein-1 (YB-1). Biochem J. Sep 15;366(Pt 3):807-16.

Csermely P, Schnaider T, Soti C, Prohaszka Z, Nardai G. (1998). The 90-kDa molecular chaperone family: Structure, function, and clinical applications. Pharmacol. Ther. 79:129–168.

Coles LS, Diamond P, Occhiodoro F, Vadas MA, Shannon MF. (1996). Cold shock domain proteins repress transcription from the GM-CSF promoter. Nucleic Acids Res. 24: 2311-2317.

Collins SJ. (2002). The role of retinoids and retinoic acid receptors in normal hematopoiesis. Leukemia. 16:1896-1905.

Das UN. (2008). Essential fatty acids and their metabolites could function as endogenous HMG-CoA reductase and ACE enzyme inhibitors, anti-arrhythmic, anti-hypertensive, anti-atherosclerotic, anti-inflammatory, cytoprotective, and cardioprotective molecules. Lipids Health Dis. Oct 15;7:37.

De Deckere, EA. (1999). Possible beneficial effect of fish and fish n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids in breast and colorectal cancer. Eur J Cancer Prev. 8 (3): 213–221.

de Souza-Pinto NC, Mason PA, Hashiguchi K *et al.* (2009). Novel DNA mismatch-repair activity involving YB-1 in human mitochondria. DNA Repair (Amst). Jun 4;8(6):704-19.

Didier DK, Schiffenbauer J, Woulfe SL, Zacheis M, Schwartz BD. (1988). Characterization of the cDNA encoding a protein binding to the major histocompatibility complex class II Y box. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 85:7322–7326.

Druker BJ, Sawyers CL, Kantarjian H, Resta DJ, Reese SF, Ford JM *et al.* (2001). Activity of a specific inhibitor of the BCRABL tyrosine kinase in the blast crisis of chronic myeloid leukemia and acute lymphoblastic leukemia with the Philadelphia chromosome. N Engl J Med. 344: 1038–1042.

Duncan AW, Rattis FM, DiMascio LN, Congdon KL, Pazianos G, Zhao C *et al.* (2005). Integration of Notch and Wnt signaling in hematopoietic stem cell maintenance.Nat Immunol. Mar;6(3):314-22.

Dupuis F, Desplat V, Praloran V, Denizot Y. (1997). Effects of lipidic mediators on the growth of human myeloid and erythroid marrow progenitors. J Lipid Mediat Cell Signal. Jul;16(3):117-25.

Edwards IJ, Berquin IM, Sun H, O'flaherty JT, Daniel LW, Thomas MJ et al. (2004). Differential effects of delivery of omega-3 fatty acids to human cancer cells by low-density



lipoproteins versus albumin. Clin Cancer Res. Dec 15;10(24):8275-83.

Evdokimova VM and Ovchinnikov LP. (1999). Translational regulation by Y-box transcription factor: involvement of the major mRNA-associated protein, p50. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 31:139-149.

Evdokimova V, Ovchinnikov L, Sorensen P. (2006). Y-box binding protein 1: providing a new angle on translational regulation. Cell Cycle. 5:1143-1147.

Felts SJ, Owen BA, Nguyen P, Trepel J, Donner DB, Toft DO. (2000). The hsp90-related protein TRAP1 is a mitochondrial protein with distinct functional properties, J. Biol. Chem. 275:3305–3312.

Finkbeiner MR, Astanehe A, To K, Fotovati A, Davies AH *et al.* (2009). Profiling YB-1 target genes uncovers a new mechanism for MET receptor regulation in normal and malignant human mammary cells. Oncogene. Mar 19;28(11):1421-31.

Finstad HS, Kolset SO, Holme JA, Wiger R, Farrants AK, Blomhoff R *et al.* (1994). Effect of n-3 and n-6 fatty acids on proliferation and differentiation of promyelocytic leukemic HL-60 cells.Blood. Dec 1;84(11):3799-809.

Finstad HS, Drevon CA, Kulseth MA, Synstad AV, Knudsen E *et al.* (1998). Cell proliferation, apoptosis and accumulation of lipid droplets in U937-1 cells incubated with eicosapentaenoic acid. Biochem J. Dec 1;336 (Pt 2):451-9.

Finstad HS, Dyrendal H, Myhrstad MC, Heimli H, Drevon CA. (2000). Uptake and activation of eicosapentaenoic acid are related to accumulation of triacylglycerol in Ramos cells dying from apoptosis. J Lipid Res. Apr;41(4):554-63.

Flandrin P, Guyotat D, Duval A, Cornillon J, Tavernier E, Nadal N *et al.* (2008). Significance of heat-shock protein (HSP) 90 expression in acute myeloid leukemia cells. Cell Stress Chaperones. 13(3):357-64.

Fukuda T, Ashizuka M, Nakamura T, Shibahara K, Maeda K, Izumi H *et al.* (2004). Characterization of the 5'-untranslated region of YB-1 mRNA and autoregulation of translation by YB-1 protein. Nucleic Acids Res. 32: 611-22.

Fukui T, Kondo M, Ito G, Maeda O, Sato N, Yoshioka H *et al.* (2005). Transcriptional silencing of secreted frizzled related protein 1 (SFRP 1) by promoter hypermethylation in non-small-cell lung cancer. Oncogene. Sep 15;24(41):6323-7.

Gleissman H, Johnsen JI, Kogner P. (2010). Omega-3 fatty acids in cancer, the protectors of good and the killers of evil? Exp Cell Res. May 1;316(8):1365-73.

Goessling W, North TE, Loewer S, Lord AM, Lee S, Stoick-Cooper CL *et al.* (2009). Genetic interaction of PGE2 and Wnt signaling regulates developmental specification of stem cells and regeneration. Cell. 136(6):1136–1147.

Gorre ME, Ellwood-Yen K, Chiosis G *et al.* (2002) BCR-ABL point mutant isolated from patients with imatinib mesylate-resistant chronic myeloid leukemia remain sensitive to inhibitors of the BCR-ABLE chaperone heat shock protein 90. Blood. 100:3041-3044.

Grammatikakis N, Vultur A, Ramana CV, Siganou A, Schweinfest CW, Watson, DK *et al.* (2002). The role of Hsp90N, a new member of the Hsp90 family, in signal transduction and neoplastic transformation. J Biol Chem. 277:8312-8320.



Greenberg P, Cox C, Le Beau MM, Fenaux P, Morel P, Sanz G *et al.* (1997). International scoring system for evaluating prognosis in myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood. 89: 2079-2088.

Gupta RS. (1995). Phylogenetic analysis of the 90 kD heat shock family of protein sequences and an examination of the relationship among animals, plants, and fungi species. Mol. Biol. Evol. 12;1063–1073.

Hartl FU. (1996). Molecular chaperones in protein folding. Nature 381:571-580.

Hartman M, Piliponsky AM, Temkin V and Levi-Schaffer F. (2001). Human peripheral blood eosinophils express stem cell factor. Blood. 97:1086-1091.

Hostein I, Robertson D, DiStefano F, Workman P, Clarke PA. (2001). Inhibition of signal transduction by the Hsp90 inhibitor 17-allylamino-17-demethoxygeldanamycin results in cytostasis and apoptosis. Cancer Res. 61:4003–4009

Huber E, Vlasny D, Jeckel S, Stubenrauch F, Iftner T. (2004). Gene profiling of cottontail rabbit papillomavirus-induced carcinomas identifies upregulated genes directly involved in stroma invasion as shown by small interfering RNA-mediated gene silencing. J Virol. 78: 74-78.

Huntley BJ and Gilliland DG. (2005). Leukemia stem cells and the evolution of cancer-stem cell research. Nat Rev Cancer. 5: 311-21.

Institute of Medicine, F.N.B., Dietary Fats: Total Fat and Fatty Acids, in Dietary Reference Intakes for Energy, Carbohydrate, Fiber, Fat, Fatty Acids, Cholesterol, Protein and Amino Acids. National Academy Press: Washington DC. 2005: 422-541

Ise T, Nagatani G, Imamura T, Kato K, Takano H, Nomoto M *et al.* (1999). Transcription factor Y-box binding protein 1 binds preferentially to cisplatin-modified DNA and interacts with proliferating cell nuclear antigen. Cancer Res. 59: 342-346.

Ishola DA Jr, Post JA, van Timmeren MM, Bakker SJ, Goldschmeding R, Koomans HA *et al* .(2006). Albumin-bound fatty acids induce mitochondrial oxidant stress and impair antioxidant responses in proximal tubular cells. Kidney Int. Aug;70(4):724-31.

Izumi H. *et al.* (2001).Y box-binding protein-1 binds preferentially to singlestranded nucleic acids and exhibits 3'5' exonuclease activity. Nucleic Acids Res. 29:1200–1207.

Jamieson CH, Ailles LE, Dylla SJ Muijtjens M, Jones C, Zehnder JL *et al.* (2004). Granulocyte-macrophage progenitors as candidate leukemic stem cells in blast crisis CML. N Engl J Med. 351: 657-667.

Janz M, Harbeck N, Dettmar P, Berger U, Schmidt A, Jurchott K *et al.* (2002). Y-box factor YB-1 predicts drug resistance and patient outcome in breast cancer independent of clinically relevant tumor biologic factors HER2, uPA and PAI-1. Int J Cancer. 97:278–82.

Johnson BS, Chandraratna RA, Heyman RA, Allegretto EA, Mueller L, Collins SJ. (1999). Retinoid X receptor (RXR) agonist-induced activation of dominant-negative RXR-retinoic acid receptor alpha403 heterodimers is developmentally regulated during myeloid differentiation. Mol Cell Biol. 19(5):3372-82.

Jolly C, Morimoto RI. (2000). Role of the heat shock response and molecular chaperones in oncogenesis and cell death. J Natl Cancer Inst. 92(19):1564-72.

Jost E, Schmid J, Wilop S, Schubert C, Suzuki H, Herman JG et al. (2008). Epigenetic



inactivation of secreted Frizzled-related proteins in acute myeloid leukaemia. Br J Haematol, 142:745-753.

Jurchott K, Bergmann S, Stein U. (2003). YB-1 as a cell cycle-regulated transcription factor facilitating cyclin A and cyclin B1 gene expression. J Biol Chem. 278: 27988–96.

Kamal A, Thao L, Sensintaffar J, Zhang, L, Boehm, M. F, Fritz, LC *et al.* (2003). A high-affinity conformation of Hsp90 confers tumor selectivity on Hsp90 inhibitors. Nature. 425:407-410.

Kaushansky K. (2006). Lineage-specific hematopoietic growth factors. N Engl J Med. 354: 2034-45.

Kirstetter P, Anderson K, Porse BT, Jacobsen SE, Nerlov C. (2006). Activation of the canonical Wnt pathway leads to loss of hematopoietic stem cell repopulation and multilineage differentiation block. Nat Immunol. 7(10):1048-56.

Kohno K, Izumi H, Uchiumi T, Ashizuka M, Kuwano M. (2003). The pleiotropic functions of the Y-box binding protein, YB-1. Bioessays. 25: 691-8.

Konstanze Döhner and Hartmut Döhner. (2008). Molecular characterization of acute myeloid leukemia. Haematologica. 93(7) 976-982.

Kubota Y, Ohnishi H, Kitanaka A, Ishida T and Tanaka T. (2004). Constitutive activation of PI3K is involved in the spontaneous proliferation of primary acute myeloid leukemia cells: direct evidence of PI3K activation. Leukemia. 18:1438–1440.

Kuwano M, Oda Y, Izumi H, Yang SJ, Uchiumi T, Iwamoto Y *et al.* (2004). The role of nuclear Y-box binding protein 1 as a global marker in drug resistance. Mol Cancer Ther. 3:1485-92.

Ladomery M and Sommerville J. (1995). A role for Y-box proteins in cell proliferation. Bioessays. 17: 9-11.

Lamberti C, Lin KM, Yamamoto Y, Verma U, Verma IM, Byers S, Gaynor RB. (2001). Regulation of beta-catenin function by the IkappaB kinases. J Biol Chem. Nov 9;276(45):42276-86.

Lasham A, Lindridge E, Rudert F, Onrust R, Watson J. (2000). Regulation of the human fas promoter by YB-1, Puralpha and AP-1 transcription factors. Gene. 252:1-13.

Lee YT, Miller LD, Gubin AN, Makhlouf F, Wojda U, Barrett AJ. (2001). Transcription patterning of uncoupled proliferation and differentiation in myelodysplastic bone marrow with erythroid-focused arrays. Blood. 98:1914-21.

Lim K, Han C, Xu L, Isse K, Demetris AJ, Wu T. (2008). Cyclooxygenase-2-derived prostaglandin E2 activates beta-catenin in human cholangiocarcinoma cells: evidence for inhibition of these signaling pathways by omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. Cancer Res. Jan15;68(2):553-60.

Lim K, Han C, Dai Y, Shen M, Wu T. (2009). Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids inhibit hepatocellular carcinoma cell growth through blocking beta-catenin and cyclooxygenase-2. Mol Cancer Ther. Nov;8(11):3046-55.

Lozzio CB, Lozzio BB. (1975). Human chronic myelogenous leukemia cell-line with positive Philadelphia chromosome. Blood. 45 (3): 321–334.



Lu ZH, Books JT, Ley TJ. (2005). YB-1 is important for late-stage embryonic development, optimal cellular stress responses, and the prevention of premature senescence. Mol Cell Biol;25:4625-37.

Ma X, Husain T, Peng H, Lin S, Mironenko O, Maun N *et al.* (2002). Development of a murine hematopoietic progenitor complementary DNA microarray using a subtracted complementary DNA library. Blood. 100: 833-844.

Mahalingam D, Swords R, Carew JS, Nawrocki ST, Bhalla K, Giles FJ. (2009). Targeting HSP90 for cancer therapy. Br J Cancer. May 19;100(10):1523-9.

Mao B *et al.* (2001). LDL-receptor-related protein 6 is a receptor for Dickkopf proteins. Nature. 411:321–325.

Marsit CJ, McClean MD, Furniss CS, Kelsey KT. (2006). Epigenetic inactivation of the SFRP genes is associated with drinking, smoking and HPV in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Int J Cancer. Oct 15;119(8):1761-6.

Martins de Lima T, Cury-Boaventura MF, Giannocco G, Nunes MT, Curi R. (2006) Comparative toxicity of fatty acids on a macrophage cell line (J774). Clin Sci (Lond). Nov;111(5):307-17.

Matsumoto K, Wolffe AP. (1998). Gene regulation by Y-box proteins: coupling control of transcription and translation. Trends Cell Biol. 8:318–323.

Matsumoto K, Bay BH. (2005). Significance of the Y-box proteins in human cancers. J Mol Genet Med. Aug 3;1(1):11-7.

Matsumura I, Kawasaki A, Tanaka H, Sonoyama J, Ezoe S, Minegishi N *et al.* (2000). Biologic significance of GATA-1 activities in Ras-mediated megakaryocytic differentiation of hematopoietic cell lines. Blood. Oct 1;96(7):2440-50.

McDonald SA, Preston SL, Lovell MJ, Wright NA, Jankowski JA. (2006). Mechanisms of disease: from stem cells to colorectal cancer. Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol. May;3(5):267-74.

Melki SA, Abumrad NA. (1992). Glycerolipid synthesis in isolated adipocytes: substrate dependence and influence of norepinephrine. J Lipid Res. May;33(5):669-78.

Mertens PR, Harendza S, Pollock AS, Lovett DH. (1997). Glomerular mesangial cell-specific transactivation of matrix metalloproteinase 2 transcription is mediated by YB-1. J Biol Chem. 272: 22905-12.

Min YH, Cheong JW, Kim JY, Eom JI, Lee ST, Hahn JS *et al.* (2004). Cytoplasmic mislocalization of p27Kip1 protein is associated with constitutive phosphorylation of Akt or protein kinase B and poor prognosis in acute myelogenous leukemia. Cancer Res. Aug 1;64(15):5225-31.

Min YH, Eom JI, Cheong JW, Maeng HO, Kim JY, Jeung HK *et al* (2003). Constitutive phosphorylation of Akt/PKB protein in acute myeloid leukemia: its significance as a prognostic variable. Leukemia. May;17(5):995-7.

Minami Y, Kiyoi H, Yamamoto Y, *et al.* (2002). Selective apoptosis of tandemly duplicated FLT3-transformed leukemia cells by Hsp90 inhibitors. Leukemia.16:1535-1540.



Morin PJ, Sparks AB, Korinek V, Barker N, Clevers H, Vogelstein B *et al* (1997). Activation of beta-catenin-Tcf signaling in colon cancer by mutations in beta-catenin or APC. Science. Mar 21;275(5307):1787-90.

Multhoff G, Hightower. (1996). LE.Cell surface expression of heat shock proteins and the immune response. Cell Stress Chaperones. 1:167–176.

Napper JM. (2010). Treatment strategies in Acute myelogenous leukemia: Investigating Hsp90 and p53 as targets. Dissertation.1-113. Available from Marshall University, Huntington, WV.

Nimmanapalli R, O'Bryan E, and Bhalla K. (2001). Geldanamycin and its analogue 17allylamino-17- demethoxygeldanamycin lowers Bcr-Abl levels and induces apoptosis and differentiation of Bcr-Abl-positive human leukemic blasts. Cancer Res. 61:1799-1804.

North TE, Goessling W, Walkley CR, Lengerke C, Kopani KR, Lord AM *et al.* (2007). Prostaglandin E2 regulates vertebrate haematopoietic stem cell homeostasis. Nature. Jun 21;447(7147):1007-11.

Nusse R, van Ooyen A, Cox D, Fung YK, Varmus H. (1984). Mode of proviral activation of a putative mammary oncogene (int-1) on mouse chromosome 15. Nature. 307 (5947): 131–6.

Ochel HJ and Gademan G. (2002). Heat-shock protein 90: potential involvement in the pathogenesis of malignancy and pharmacological intervention. Onkologie. 25:466–473.

Ogawa M, Matsuzaki Y, Nishikawa S, Hayashi S, Kunisada T, Sudo T *et al.* (1991). Expression and function of c-kit in hemopoietic progenitor cells. J. Exp. Med. 174, 63-71.

Ohga T, Koike K, No M, Makino Y, Itagaki Y, Tanimoto M *et al.* (1996). Role of the human Y box-binding protein YB-1 in cellular sensitivity to the DNA-damaging agents cisplatin, mitomycin C, and ultraviolet light. Cancer Res. 56: 4224-4228.

Ohga T, Uchiumi T, Makino Y *et al.* (1998). Direct involvement of the Y-box binding protein YB-1 in genotoxic stress-induced activation of the human multidrug resistance1 gene. J Biol Chem. 273: 5997-6000.

Okamoto T, Izumi H, Imamura T, Takano H, Ise T, Uchiumi T *et al.* (2000). Direct interaction of p53 with the Y-box binding protein, YB-1: a mechanism for regulation of human gene expression. Oncogene.19: 6194-6202.

Pearl LH, Prodromou C, and Workman P. (2008). The Hsp90 molecular chaperone: and open and shut case for treatment. Biochem J. 410:439-453.

Polakis P. (2000). Wnt signaling and cancer. Genes Dev. Aug 1;14(15):1837-51.

Pratt WB and Toft DO. (2003). Regulation of signaling protein function and trafficking by theHsp90/Hsp70-based chaperone machinery. Exp Biol Med. 228:111-133.

Prodromou C, Panaretou B, Chohan S, Siligardi G, O'Brien R, Ladbury JE *et al.* (2000). The ATPase cycle of Hsp90 drives a molecular "clamp" via transient dimerization of the N-terminal domains. EMBO J. 19:4383-4392.

Prodromou C and Pearl LH. (2003). Structure and functional relationships of Hsp90. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 3:301-323.

Rahmani M, Reese E, Dai Y, Bauer C, Kramer LB, Huang M *et al.* (2005). Cotreatment with suberanoylanilide hydroxamic acid and 17-allylamino 17-demethoxygeldanamycin



synergistically induces apoptosis in Bcr-Abl+ Cells sensitive and resistant to STI571 (imatinib mesylate) in association with down-regulation of Bcr-Abl, abrogation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 5 activity, and Bax conformational change. Mol Pharmacol. 67: 1166–1176.

Reya T and Clevers H. (2005). Wnt signalling in stem cells and cancer. Nature. 434: 843–850.

Reya T, Duncan AW, Ailles L, Domen J, Scherer DC, Willert K *et al.* (2003). A role for Wnt signalling in self-renewal of haematopoietic stem cells. Nature. 423:409-414.

Rijsewijk F, Schuermann M, WagenARAr E, Parren P, Weigel D, Nusse R. (1987). The Drosophila homolog of the mouse mammary oncogene int-1 is identical to the segment polarity gene wingless. Cell. 50 (4): 649–57.

Ritossa F. (1962). A new puffing pattern induced by temperature shock and DNP in drosophila. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences. 18 (12): 571–573.

Rosenbauer F, Koschmieder S, Steidl U, Tenen DG. (2005). Effect of transcription-factor concentrations on leukemic stem cells. Blood. 106: 1519-24.

Rosenbauer F, Tenen DG. (2007). Transcription factors in myeloid development: balancing differentiation with transformation. Nat Rev Immunol. Feb;7(2):105-17.

Rudolph IL, Kelley DS, Klasing KC, Erickson KL. (2001). Regulation of cellular differentiation and apoptosis by fatty acids and their metabolites. Nutr Res. Jan-Feb;21(1-2):381-93.

Ruden DM, Garfinkel MD, Sollars VE, Lu X. (2003). Waddington's widget: Hsp90 and the inheritance of acquired characters. Semin Cell Dev Biol. Oct;14(5):301-10.

Rutherford, SL and Linquist S. (1998). Hsp90 as a capacitor for morphological evolution. Nature. 396: 336-342.

Samuni Y, Ishii H, Hyodo F, Samuni U, Krishna MC, Goldstein S *et al.* (2010). Reactive oxygen species mediate hepatotoxicity induced by the Hsp90 inhibitor geldanamycin and its analogs. Free Radic Biol Med. Jun 1;48(11):1559-63.

Schittek B, Psenner K, Sauer B, Meier F, Iftner T, Garbe C. (2007). The increased expression of Y box-binding protein 1 in melanoma stimulates proliferation and tumor invasion, antagonizes apoptosis and enhances chemoresistance. Int J Cancer. 120: 2110-18.

Schlesinger, MJ Tissieres A and Ashburner M. (1982). Heat shock proteins from bacteria to man, Cold spring harbor, NY.

Seung Kim HF, Weeber EJ, Sweatt JD, Stoll AL, Marangell LB. (2001). Inhibitory effects of omega-3 fatty acids on protein kinase C activity in vitro. Mol Psychiatry. Mar;6(2):246-8.

Sharma RP, Chopra VL. (1976). Effect of the Wingless (wg1) mutation on wing and haltere development in Drosophila melanogaster. Dev Biol. 48:461–465.

Shibahara K, Uchiumi T, Fukuda T, Kura S, Tominaga Y, Maehara Y *et al.* (2004). Targeted disruption of one allele of the Y-box binding protein-1 (YB-1) gene in mouse embryonic stem cells and increased sensitivity to cisplatin and mitomycin C. Cancer Sci. 95: 348-53.

Simon M, Grandage VL, Linch DC, Khwaja A. (2005). Constitutive activation of the Wnt/betacatenin signalling pathway in acute myeloid leukaemia. Oncogene. Mar 31;24(14):2410-20.



Solit DB, Chiosis G. (2008). Development and application of Hsp90 inhibitors.Drug Discov Today. Jan;13(1-2):38-43.

Sollars V, Lu X, Xiao L, Wang X, Garfinkel MD, Ruden DM. (2003). Evidence for an epigenetic mechanism by which Hsp90 acts as a capacitor for morphological evolution. Nat Genet. Jan;33(1):70-4.

Sonna LA, Fujita J, Gaffin SL, Lilly CM. (2002). Effects of heat and cold stress on mammalian gene expression. J Appl Physiol. Apr;92(4):1725-42.

Spitkovsky, Royer-Pokora DD B, Delius H, Kisseljov F, Jenkins NA, Gilbert DJ *et al.* (1992). Tissue restricted expression and chromosomallocalization of the YB-1 gene encoding a 42 kD nuclear CCAAT binding protein. NucleicAcids Res. 20 (4) 797-803.

Sreedhar AS, Kalmár E, Csermely P, Shen YF. (2004). Hsp90 isoforms: functions, expression and clinical importance. FEBS Lett. Mar 26;562(1-3):11-5.

Supko JG, Hickman RL, Grever MR, Malspeis L. (1995). Preclinical pharmacologic evaluation of geldanamycin as an antitumor agent. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 36(4):305-15

Sutherland, B.W., Kucab, J., Wu. J. *et al.* (2005). Akt phosphorylates the Y-box binding protein 1 at S102 located in the cold shock domain and affects the anchorage-independent growth of breast cancer cells. Oncogene. 24(26):4281–92.

Suzuki H, Watkins DN, Jair KW, Schuebel KE, Markowitz SD, Chen WD *et al.*(2004). Epigenetic inactivation of SFRP genes allows constitutive WNT signaling in colorectal cancer. Nat Genet. Apr;36(4):417-22.

Swamynathan SK, Varma BR, Weber KT, Guntaka RV. (2002). Targeted disruption of one allele of the Y-box protein gene, Chk-YB-1b, inDT40 cells results in major defects in cell cycle. Biochem. Biophys. Res.Commun. 296:451–457.

Szalai G, LaRue AC, Watson DK. (2006). Molecular mechanisms of megakaryopoiesis. Cell Mol Life Sci. 63 (21): 2460-76.

Tabilio A, Pelicei PG. (1983). Myeloid and megakaryocytic properties of K-562 cell lines. Cancer Res.; 43: 4569–4574.

Taldone T, Sun W, Chiosis G (2009). Discovery and development of heat shock protein 90 inhibitors. Bioorg Med Chem. Mar 15;17(6):2225-35.

Tang W, Chen G, Shi G. (1997). Double effects of arsenic trioxide (As2O3) on acute promyelocytic leukemic cell line. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi. 77 (7): 509-12.

Tenen DG. (2003). Disruption of differentiation in human cancer: AML shows the way. Nat Rev Cancer. Feb;3(2):89-101.

Tenen DG, Hromas R, Licht JD, Zhang DE. (1997). Transcription factors, normal myeloid development, and leukemia. Blood. 90: 489-519.

Tichopad A, Dilger M, Schwarz G, Pfaffl MW. (2003). Standardized determination of real-time PCR efficiency from a single reaction set-up. Nucleic Acids Res. 31:e122.

Tissieres A, Mitchell HK and Tracy U. (1974). Protein synthesis in salivary glands of Drosophila melanogaster: Relation to chromosome puffs. J Mol Biol. Apr 15;85(3):389-98.



Toh S, Nakamura T, Ohga T Koike K, Uchiumi T, Wada M *et al.* (1998). Genomic organization of the human Y-box protein (YB-1) gene. Gene. 206: 93-97.

Tsai S, Bartelmez S, Sitnicka E, Collins S. (1994). Lymphohematopoietic progenitors immortalized by a retroviral vector harboring a dominant-negative retinoic acid receptor can recapitulate lymphoid, myeloid, and erythroid development. Genes Dev. 8: 2831-2841.

van Noort M, Meeldijk J, van der Zee R, Destree O, Clevers H. (2002). Wnt signaling controls the phosphorylation status of beta-catenin. J Biol Chem. May 17;277(20):17901-5.

Varney ME, Buchanan JT, Dementieva Y, Hardman WE, Sollars VE. (2011). A high omega-3 fatty acid diet has different effects on early and late stage myeloid progenitors. Lipids. Jan;46(1):47-57.

Varney ME, Hardman WE, Sollars VE. (2009). Omega 3 fatty acids reduce myeloid progenitor cell frequency in the bone marrow of mice and promote progenitor cell differentiation. Lipids Health Dis. Mar 18;8:9.

Vitrat N, Cohen-Solal K, Pique C. (1998). Endomitosis of human megakaryocytes are due to abortive mitosis. Blood. 91 (10): 3711-23.

Voss AK, Thomas T, Gruss P. (2000). Mice lacking HSP90beta fail to develop a placental labyrinth.Development. Jan;127(1):1-11.

Waddington CH. (1942). Canalization of development and the inheritance of acquired characters. Nature. 150:563-565.

Wandinger SK, Richter K, Buchner J. (2008). The Hsp90 chaperone machinery. J Biol Chem. Jul 4;283(27):18473-7.

Wang M, Liu YE, Ni J, Aygun B, Goldberg ID, Shi YE. (2000). Induction of mammary differentiation by mammary-derived growth inhibitor-related gene that interacts with an omega-3 fatty acid on growth inhibition of breast cancer cells. Cancer Res. Nov 15;60(22):6482-7.

Wang Y, Krivtsov AV, Sinha AU, North TE, Goessling W, Feng Z *et al.* (2010). The Wnt/betacatenin pathway is required for the development of leukemia stem cells in AML. Science. Mar 26;327(5973):1650-3.

Wechsler, J,Greene M, McDevitt MA, Anastasi J, Karp JE, Le Beau MM *et al.* (2002). Acquired mutations in GATA1 in the megakaryoblastic leukemia of Down syndrome. Nature Genet. 32:148–152.

Williams CD, Whitley BM, Hoyo C, Grant DJ, Iraggi JD, Newman KA *et al.* (2011). A high ratio of dietary n-6/n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids is associated with increased risk of prostate cancer. Nutr Res. Jan;31(1):1-8.

Wolfe AP. (1994). Structural and functional properties of the evolutionarily ancient Y-box family of nucleic acid binding proteins. Bioessays.16: 245-251.

Wong KS, Houry WA. (2006). Hsp90 at the crossroads of genetics and epigenetics. Cell Res. 16(9):742-9.

Wu J, Stratford AL, Astanehe A, Dunn SE. (2007). YB-1 is a transcription/translation factor that orchestrates the oncogenome by hardwiring signal transduction to gene expression. Translational Oncogenomics. 2: 49-65.



Wu WC, Wu MH, Chang YC, Hsieh MC, Wu HJ, Cheng KC *et al.*(2010). Geldanamycin and its analog induce cytotoxicity in cultured human retinal pigment epithelial cells. Exp Eye Res. Aug;91(2):211-9.

Xu WL, Zhou LL, Chen QY, Chen C, Fang LL, Fang XJ *et al.* (2009) Effect of YB-1 gene knockdown on human leukemia cell line K562/A02. Zhonghua Yi Xue Yi Chuan Xue Za Zhi. Aug;26(4):400-5.

Ye ZJ, Kluger Y, Lian Z, Weissman SM. (2005). Two types of precursor cells in a multipotential hematopoietic cell line. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 102(51):18461-6.

Yufu Y, Nishimura J, Nawata H. (1992). High constitutive expression of heat shock protein 90 alpha in human acute leukemia cells. Leuk Res. 16:597–605.

Yokoyama H, Harigae H, Takahashi S, Kameoka J, Miyamura K, Ishizawa K *et al.* (2003a). High expression of YB-1 gene in erythroid cells in patients with refractory anemia. Int J Hematol. 78: 213-8.

Yokoyama H, Harigae H, Takahashi S, Takahashi S, Furuyama K, Kaku M *et al.* (2003b) Regulation of YB-1 gene expression by GATA transcription factors. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 303:140-5.

Zhu J, Emerson SG. (2002). Hematopoietic cytokines, transcription factors and lineage commitment. Oncogene. May 13;21(21):3295-313.

Zurawska A, Urbanski J, and Bieganowski P. (2008). Hsp90N and accidental product of a fortuitous chromosomal translocation rather than a regular hsp90 family member of human proteome. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1784:1844-1846.

